

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

# Leadership Strategies for Implementing Telemedicine Technology in Rural Hospitals to Improve Profitability

Chikezie Ralph Waturuocha Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Databases and Information Systems Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

•

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Chikezie Ralph Waturuocha

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Gregory Uche, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Warren Lesser, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Judith Blando, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

Leadership Strategies for Implementing Telemedicine Technology in Rural Hospitals to

Improve Profitability

by

Chikezie Ralph Waturuocha

MS, University of St. Thomas, St. Paul, MN, 2002

BA, University of Jos, Jos Nigeria, 1996

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

July 2021

#### Abstract

Ineffective leadership strategies can negatively impact telemedicine technology implementation in rural hospitals, which may hinder profitability. Rural hospital administrators who struggle to implement telemedicine technology for improved profitability are at high risk of experiencing patient health outcomes failure. Grounded in the technology acceptance model, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore leadership strategies rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. The participants were five health care administrators of a rural hospital in a Midwest U.S. state who successfully implemented telemedicine technology to improve profitability. Sources for data collection were semistructured interviews and company documents. Data analysis involved the use of the thematic process where four themes emerged: training and education; identification of stakeholders and collaboration; physician leader role and coordination; and transparency, information sharing, and communication. A key recommendation is for rural hospital leaders to organize regular conferences and workshops on strategies to improve the leadership skills of managers responsible for implementing telemedicine technology. The implications for positive social change include the potential for health care leaders to create job opportunities and generating income for employees to benefit their families, thereby boosting the local economy.

## Leadership Strategies for Implementing Telemedicine Technology in Rural Hospitals to

Improve Profitability

by

Chikezie Ralph Waturuocha

MS, University of St. Thomas, St. Paul, MN, 2002 BA, University of Jos, Jos Nigeria, 1996

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

July 2021

### Dedication

I dedicate this study to the God Almighty, who in His abundant mercy and love sustained me to complete this doctoral study. I also dedicate this study to my wife Lilian Waturuocha and our three adorable children, Justin, Victor, and Jason, for their love, understanding, prayers, and continuing support to complete this doctoral study. I also dedicate this study to my parents, Desmond and Bridget Waturuocha, for their unconditional love, prayers, caring, and sacrifices to educate and prepare me for my future.

## Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I praise and thank God, the Almighty, for His infinite love, protection, and showers of blessings throughout this journey to complete my doctoral studies. I want to acknowledge and express my sincere gratitude to my chair and mentor, Dr. Gregory Uche, for providing invaluable guidance throughout this research. His dynamism, vision, sincerity, and motivation have deeply inspired me. Thank you for instilling hope in me and making me see the light at the end of the tunnel. I want to acknowledge the tremendous assistance of Dr. Warren Lesser, 2nd Committee member, and Dr. Judy Blando, URR, who thoroughly reviewed my work for compliance with Walden University's standards. Your exceptional critiques, comments, and feedback added immensely to my knowledge and the value of this study - I am very grateful. To Dr. Susan Davis, the program director, thank you for the opportunity to complete this study. I cannot forget to thank my Walden colleague, Dr. Joseph Amaglo, for his invaluable support.

Sect	ion 1: Foundation of the Study1
Ι	Background of the Problem2
Ι	Problem Statement
Ι	Purpose Statement
1	Nature of the Study4
I	Research Question
	Interview Questions
(	Conceptual Framework
Ι	Definition of Terms7
I	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations9
	Assumptions
	Limitations
	Delimitations
S	Significance of the Study10
	Contribution to Business Practice10
	Implications for Social Change11
I	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature12
	Technology Acceptance Model (TAM)14
	Advancement of TAM 16
	Successive Modifications of TAM16
	Alternative Theories to TAM17

## Table of Contents

Technology Acceptance of Telemedicine	19
Current State of Rural Health Care	
Need for Telemedicine Technology in Rural America	
Barriers to Telemedicine Implementation	
Benefits of Telemedicine Implementation	
Patient Satisfaction	
Cost-benefits of Telemedicine	
Remote Monitoring	
Improved Health Outcomes	
Telemedicine Impact on Rural Hospital Profitability	
Leadership Strategies	
Transition and Summary	44
Section 2: The Project	46
Purpose Statement	46
Role of the Researcher	46
Participants	50
Research Method and Design	52
Method	52
Research Design	53
Population and Sampling	55
Ethical Research	57

Instruments	60
Data Collection Technique	63
Data Analysis Technique	69
Reliability and Validity	71
Reliability	
Validity	73
Transition and Summary	76
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	77
Overview of Study	77
Presentation of the Findings	78
Theme 1: Training and Education	79
Theme 2: Identification of Stakeholders and Collaboration	80
Theme 3: Physician Leader Role and Coordination	84
Theme 4: Transparency, Information Sharing, and Communication	85
Findings Related to TAM	87
Applications to Professional Practice	89
Implications for Social Change	91
Recommendations for Action	93
Recommendations for Further Study	95
Reflections	96
Summary and Study Conclusions	98
References	100

Appendix A: Interview Protocol	151
Appendix B: Letter of Invitation to Participants	153
Appendix C: Interview Questions	155

## Section 1: Foundation of the Study

The United States spends more on health care than any other nation (Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, 2018). The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (2015) projected the total U.S. health expenditures to grow by 5.6% annually between 2016 and 2025 and to overtake gross domestic product (GDP) growth by 1.2% annually during the same period. Health care in the rural United States is becoming inaccessible, resulting in disastrous health care outcomes for rural residents and the massive closure of rural hospitals and providers (Holmes et al., 2019). The U.S. government requires immediate urgency to improve the provision of quality health care in rural communities to achieve its health objectives.

Policymakers, hospital leaders, and health care providers require unique strategies and sustainable, innovative solutions to mitigate the financial challenges and heightened closures of rural hospitals. The health care providers proposed the Save Rural Hospital Act/HR 2947 to U.S. Congress to solve the economic challenges facing rural hospitals (Bannow, 2018). Implementing telemedicine technology may solve the financial crisis in rural hospitals (Rural Health Information hub (RHIhub), 2019; Schadelbauer, 2017), help rural hospitals increase revenues, and improve the quality of care in rural communities (Dinesen et al., 2016). However, limited studies exist on the role of telemedicine on the economic viability of rural health care providers. The purpose of this study was to explore the leadership strategies health care administrators use for implementing telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

#### **Background of the Problem**

Rural hospitals are the economic anchors of rural communities across the United States (American Hospital Association, 2019b); however, hospital leaders face enormous financial challenges to provide quality care to rural communities. About 20% of Americans live in rural communities, while more than 4,000 rural communities across the U.S. have limited access to medical care (Paul & McDaniel, 2016). Researchers have attributed the problem to an increase in health care costs, provider shortage, and increased rate of rural hospital closures (Paul & McDaniel, 2016). The shortage of primary care physicians in the U.S. is estimated to multiply from 39,000 in 2015 to 124,000 by 2025 (Paul & McDaniel, 2016). The lack of primary care physicians could result in limited health services accessible to rural patients, decreased revenue, and the eventual closure of rural hospitals (Balasubramanian & Jones, 2016).

Health care leaders should seek sustainable solutions to improve profitability and provide affordable, accessible, and quality care to rural residents (Kaufman et al., 2015; McLean et al., 2013). Implementing telemedicine technology in rural hospitals may improve the quality of care, improve profitability, and reduce health care costs (Dinesen et al., 2016; Mehrotra et al., 2016). According to Kvedar et al. (2014), telemedicine technology is a cost-effective alternative to traditional health care delivery. Leadership strategies that hospital leaders could use to improve profitability remain under-investigated. This study's findings could contribute to business practice by providing rural hospital leaders with strategies for implementing telemedicine technology to improve their business profitability.

#### **Problem Statement**

Rural health care leaders lack the awareness to implement telemedicine for financial stability and profitability (Frakt, 2019; Murphy et al., 2018). Since 2013, over 64 of 2,150 rural hospitals in the U.S. closed due to financial challenges (Miller et al., 2020; Smith, 2020). Establishing telemedicine practice in rural hospitals has the potential to reduce health care costs and solve the growing problem of rural hospital closures and shortage of health care providers (Jong et al., 2019; Radfar et al., 2017). The general business problem was that many rural hospital leaders face severe financial challenges and decreased profits. The specific business problem was that some rural hospital leaders lack leadership strategies to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the leadership strategies that rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. The target population consisted of five health care administrators of a rural hospital in a Midwestern U.S. state, who have successfully implemented telemedicine technology to improve profitability. The implications for social change might include health care leaders acquiring leadership strategies to provide patients' access to specialty care, improved health care outcomes, and enhanced access to health care services by rural communities. This study's findings could contribute to positive social change by offering employment opportunities and generating income to employees to benefit their families, thereby boosting the local economy.

#### Nature of the Study

The three research methods are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods. I used a qualitative method to explore the leadership strategies rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. Researchers use a qualitative method to understand participants' experiences of the phenomena, and interview participants in their environment (Thirsk & Clark, 2017). Using the qualitative method, researchers could understand the various study phenomena through rich and thick data descriptions (Deasy, 2018; Gustafsson, 2017;). Qualitative researchers might gain significant insights and understanding of the study problem using the qualitative method. The qualitative method was appropriate for this study because I focused on understanding the human experiences and interviewed participants in their natural settings to collect textual data.

The quantitative method involves using a hypothesis and statistical inferences to generate data (Fossaluza et al., 2017; Thirsk & Clark, 2017). A quantitative approach was not appropriate for this study because I did not intend to generate a hypothesis or rely on statistical results. Mixed method research involves utilizing qualitative and quantitative methods to generate numerical and descriptive data (Halcomb & Hickman, 2015). The mixed method was not appropriate for this study because a combination of participants' experience and statistical data generation was not necessary. The qualitative method was the most suitable method for this study because I explored the leadership strategies that rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

Qualitative research designs include case study, phenomenology, and ethnography (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). I used a single case study design for this study. The multiple case study was not appropriate for this study because I did not intend to study multiple hospitals to explore similarities and differences in telemedicine implementation. Researchers use a case study design to explore and analyze the phenomenon in a specific setting using multiple sources of evidence and data sources (Yin, 2017). The case study design was appropriate for this study because I explored and analyzed phenomena using multiple data sources.

Researchers use phenomenological design to understand and interpret phenomena through participants' lived experiences in their contexts (Padilla-Díaz, 2015). Because I did not intend to explore the phenomena through the participant's lived experiences, the phenomenological design was not appropriate for this study. Researchers use an ethnographic design to immerse in the participants' culture to understand the context of the phenomenon (Lewis, 2015). The ethnography design was not appropriate for this study because the purpose of the study was not to understand the participants' culture and background. The single case study was the most suitable design for this study because I explored the leadership strategies that rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

#### **Research Question**

The primary research question for this study was: What leadership strategies do rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability?

#### **Interview Questions**

- 1. What leadership strategies have you used to implement telemedicine technology in the rural community to improve profitability?
- 2. What leadership strategies did you use that worked best in implementing telemedicine technology in the rural community?
- 3. How were the strategies successful?
- 4. What challenges did you face during implementation?
- 5. How did you overcome the challenges?
- 6. How have your leadership strategies to implement telemedicine contributed to the organization's profitability?
- 7. How did you assess the effectiveness of the strategies to determine your organization's profitability?
- 8. What other information can you provide to help rural health care leaders implement telemedicine technology to increase profitability?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The conceptual framework l used in this study was the technology acceptance model (TAM). Davis developed the TAM in 1989. TAM is derived from the theory of reasoned action (TRA) and is the initial framework that researchers use to explain users' behavior and intention to use technology (Charness & Boot, 2016; Marangunic & Granic, 2015). Davis proposed two primary factors that determine the user's attitude and intention to embrace new technology, including perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use (Wu & Chen, 2017). Perceived usefulness (PU) is the extent to which an individual believes using a specific system will improve their job performance (Tarhini et al., 2016; Wu & Chen, 2017). Perceived ease of use (PEOU) refers to the degree to which an individual believes that using a particular system will be effortless (Eze, Obichukwu, & Kesharwani, 2021).

TAM could serve as a reliable framework for predicting technology acceptance in the health care ecosystem (Rho et al., 2014). Researchers have used TAM to understand the acceptance and implementation of telemedicine technology by health care professionals (Saigi-Rubió et al., 2016). The PEOU and PU constructs are associated with users' intention to accept telemedicine (Wade et al., 2016). In this study's data analysis and study findings, the TAM concept was an influential driver in telemedicine implementation in the rural hospital to improve profitability. As contained in the Theme 1: Training and Education, the PEOU and PU constructs were influential determinants in rural patients' acceptance of telemedicine. With training and education, rural patients perceived telemedicine as easy to use and were motivated and ready to use the technology. Health care leaders may apply TAM concepts to learn and execute strategies that may influence telemedicine acceptance and adoption (Canfield & Galvin, 2018). Researchers should understand the significance of the PEOU and PU constructs to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. TAM was appropriate to explore the leadership strategies that rural hospital leaders use for implementing telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

## **Definition of Terms**

The following terms used in this study are defined below:

*Asynchronous:* A store and forward type of telemedicine in which the patient's medical information—history, images, and pathology reports—are collected and sent to specialists for diagnosis (Mechanic & Kimball, 2019).

*Synchronous:* A type of telemedicine using information and telecommunication technologies to deliver health information in real-time, enabling live interaction between patient and health care provider (Mechanic & Kimball, 2019).

*Telehealth:* The delivery of clinical health care, from a distance, using information and telecommunications technologies to exchange medical information, diagnose, treat, and prevent diseases by delivering continuing health care to providers and communities (Paul & McDaniel, 2016).

*Telemedicine:* The use of information and telecommunication technologies to deliver and support medical care by health care providers to patients from a distance (Chen, 2017)

*Telemonitoring or remote patient monitoring:* Uninterrupted monitoring and evaluation of a patient's clinical data and status using direct video monitoring (Mechanic & Kimball, 2019).

*Teleradiology:* Using electronic devices to transmit radiological images to remote radiologists for consultations and interpretations (Fatehi et al., 2015).

*Teleconsultation:* Consultation between multiple geographically separated health care providers to deliver quality care (Paul & McDaniel, 2016).

## Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

## Assumptions

Researchers make assumptions during the research process. Assumptions are specific facts believed to be accurate, but are not verifiable (Corbin & Strauss, 2015). Assumptions are a set of beliefs that guide researchers in their specified research approach (Haegele & Hodge, 2015), which could impose restrictions beyond the scholar's control. In this study, I made four assumptions. My first assumption was rooted in the belief that telemedicine technology could improve profitability in rural hospitals. My second assumption was that participants would answer the interview questions thoroughly and honestly. Next, I assumed that participants played direct roles in implementing telemedicine technology in the organization. My final assumption was that the data collection techniques would enhance the credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability of the study.

#### Limitations

Researchers encounter some limitations in conducting a research study. Limitations are potential weaknesses in the study, not within the researcher's control (Corbin & Strauss, 2015). According to Berg et al. (2017), limitations constrain researchers from following their wishes during the research study. Researchers should understand the study's limitation to make meaning of the data collected from participants who represent lived experiences (Carleton & Porter, 2018). The first limitation of this study was the restriction of participants to health care administrators of a rural hospital in a Midwestern U.S. state. The second limitation was that the study findings might not be generalizable beyond the context of the study. The third limitation was the cross-sectional and short time limit of the study. The final limitation was the small sample size of five health care administrators.

#### Delimitations

Researchers should establish delimitations for their research study. Delimitations refer to boundaries, constraints, or the scope of a study (Bailey, 2018; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Delimitations are factors in a study that define the research boundaries (Holloway & Galvin, 2017). Researchers create delimitations to minimize the time used on irrelevant aspects of research. In this study, there were five delimitations. The first delimitation was the scope of the study. The study was limited to exploring the leadership strategies that rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. The second delimitation was the restriction of the study to a rural hospital in a Midwestern U.S. state, which sets the geographical boundary for the study. The third delimitation was the context of the study, which restricts the research to a rural setting in a Midwestern U.S. state. Another delimitation was the purposeful selection of research participants and restricting the participants to rural health care administrators. The final delimitation was the generalization of the study findings to other health care institutions in differing geographical locations.

#### Significance of the Study

#### **Contribution to Business Practice**

Implementing telemedicine could help rural hospitals improve profitability and reduce operational costs. Rural hospitals lack the financial resources to provide

specialized services in rural communities (Murphy et al., 2018). With decreased patient admissions and patient visits, and the elimination of time and distance barriers to care, telemedicine service utilization may increase, generating incremental revenue for rural hospitals (Cichosz et al., 2016; O'Connor et al., 2016). Using telemedicine in rural hospitals may allow rural health care providers to engage remotely with other hospitals and collaborate to provide specialty care, thereby eliminating the high cost of hiring specialized clinical staff. This study's results could provide a practical model for rural hospital leaders to develop leadership strategies to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability, thereby enhancing health care performance.

Telemedicine technology may result in positive clinical outcomes and increased patient satisfaction (Glynn et al., 2020; Williams et al., 2018). Researchers have demonstrated that patient satisfaction increased the revenues for rural health care providers (Edoh et al., 2016). This study's findings might contribute to effective business practice by providing rural hospital leaders with evidence-based leadership strategies and incentives to invest in telemedicine technology to improve profitability in rural hospitals. This study's findings might add value to health care business community by disseminating information regarding leadership strategies for implementing telemedicine technology to improve profitability; thereby providing a competitive edge to rural hospitals.

#### **Implications for Social Change**

The findings of this study might enable rural hospital leaders to implement telemedicine technology to improve access to quality health in rural areas and society in general, acting as a stimulant to positive social change. People in rural communities have high mortality rates due to limited or no access to quality care (Caldwell et al., 2017). Using telemedicine to monitor rural patients could improve decision making in delivering care and improving patients' experiences (Kasckow et al., 2016). Rural hospital leaders may use telemedicine technology to provide quality care to people living in rural areas. Cooper (2015) suggested that with the growing shortage of health care providers in rural areas, establishing telemedicine practices may increase patients' access to the same quality of care and specialty services available in the urban and traditional health care locales. A potential social change outcome is that health care leaders might acquire leadership strategies to provide patients' access to specialty care and improved health care outcomes. By implementing telemedicine, rural hospital leaders could provide critical health care services to people in rural areas, create employment opportunities, generate income for employees to the benefits of their families, thereby boosting the local economy.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The objective of this qualitative case study was to explore the leadership strategies that rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. A lack of leadership strategies to increase revenue and improve profitability is a threat to rural hospitals' continued existence. With the increasing rate of rural hospital closure due to financial instability, many rural hospital leaders have not found solutions to the problem (Brandon, 2019). Some researchers have proposed implementing telemedicine technology to improve rural hospital profitability (Mehrotra et al., 2016). This study's findings might provide rural hospital leaders with rich knowledge of leadership strategies to implement telemedicine to increase revenue and improve profit.

This literature review involved an unbiased, extensive exploration and discussion of the research topic. The topics for discussion in this literature review include TAM, technology acceptance of telemedicine, the current state of rural care, need for telemedicine in rural communities, benefits of telemedicine implementation, barriers to implementing telemedicine, and telemedicine impact on rural hospitals' profitability. For this literature review, I reviewed scholarly articles, textbooks, and peer-reviewed journal articles related to telemedicine acceptance and implementation strategies. I searched for journal articles using the following sources: Google Scholar, Business Source Premier, ProQuest, EBSCOhost, Science Direct, Academic Source Complete, Medline, JIMR, and the Walden dissertation electronic database. I used Ulrich's Periodicals Directory website for verification of peer-reviewed journals. The keywords and phrases used for literature search included: Telemedicine, telehealth, mHealth, telemedicine and profitability, telemedicine implementation barriers, telemedicine implementation benefits, technology acceptance model, telemedicine acceptance and health information technology, and *leadership strategies.* Table 1 contains a summary of the sources of resources for the literature review.

## Table 1

Literature Review Sources of Resources

Reference Type	<5 Years	>5 Years	Total
Peer-reviewed Journals	249	24	273
Dissertations	0	3	3
Non-peer reviewed Journals	2	9	11
Books	1	5	6
Government or Corporate Sites	12	0	12
Total	264	41	305

The resources include 305 references, consisting of 273 peer-reviewed journals, three dissertations, 11 non-peer-reviewed journals, six books, and twelve government or corporate websites. Of the 305 resources, 273 or 90% were peer-reviewed journals, and 249 or 85% were publications between 2015 and 2021. I organized and presented the literature review by themes.

## **Technology Acceptance Model (TAM)**

The conceptual framework I used in this study was TAM. Davis (1989) developed the TAM in 1989. The TAM is used to explain users' behavior and intention to use technology (Marangunic & Granic, 2015). Davis proposed TAM on the premise that when users experience new technology, multiple factors determine their motive to use the technology. Davis identified two constructs or beliefs in the TAM framework to include PU and PEOU (Dos Reis & Freitas, 2014). PEOU refers to the degree an individual believes using a particular system will be effortless while PU is the extent to a person believes using a specific system will enhance job performance (Tarhini et al., 2016; Wu & Chen, 2017). PU and PEOU have become the primary predictors of technology acceptance and use (Rho et al., 2014). Davis posited that a user's intent to use and actual use of a technology establishes the user's embrace or rejection of that technology.

Researchers have developed numerous conceptual theories to understand what drives technology acceptance and use in different contexts (Maillet et al., 2015; Dwivedi et al., 2017). TAM has become the leading model for describing and predicting technology acceptance (Rho et al., 2014). Rho et al. defined technology acceptance as users' psychological conditions and how it influences the predetermined use of technology. Chen et al. (2017) explained that TAM is the most applied conceptual model for predicting usage intention and the actual use of technology. TAM is a practical framework for predicting rural hospital leaders' intentions to implement telemedicine technology in their rural communities.

Many researchers have applied TAM in their studies. Martins et al. (2014) noted that researchers had applied TAM in various settings. According to Dajani and Yaseen (2016), one of TAM's usefulness is researchers' ability to apply it in various technology ecosystems. Cilliers and Flowerday (2014) stated that researchers use TAM to predict and justify factors that influence technology acceptance and use. Because of the extensive use of TAM in research, researchers have the authority to implement the framework in diverse environments (Ashraf et al., 2014). Martins et al. (2014) observed that researchers

had applied TAM in diverse domains. Rural hospital leaders should use TAM constructs to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

### **Advancement of TAM**

TAMs evolved from multidisciplinary fields of knowledge that form the platform for research in technology acceptance (Martins et al., 2014). Researchers support TAM in theory and empirical evidence to predict technology acceptance among potential users (Wu & Lu, 2013). Subsequently, Davis (1989) refined TAM by including the attitude construct where a user's attitude towards a system indicates whether the user will accept or reject the system. PU and PEOU variables influence users' attitudes to technology acceptance. Davis confirmed that attitude does not fully mediate PU and PEOU.

#### **Successive Modifications of TAM**

PU is considered a significant determinant of users' intention to use technology (Lai, 2017). In TAM2, Venkatesh and Davis (2000) established the five variables that directly impact PU: subjective norm, image, job relevance, output quality, and result demonstrability. Venkatesh and Davis integrated the three related social forms - subjective norm, voluntariness, and image. PU focuses on usage intentions.

Further development of TAM includes the addition of behavioral intention (BI) as a new variable. Davis (1989) noted that the PU of the system directly influences BI. What gave rise to the modified version of TAM is when a person may have a high behavioral intention to use technology without attitudinal influence.

#### **Alternative Theories to TAM**

Many other conceptual frameworks that relate to TAM may be applicable in technology acceptance improvement studies. Practitioners and scholars use technology acceptance improvement framework in understanding telemedicine technology to improve profitability and provide affordable, accessible, and quality care to rural residents (Kaufman et al., 2015). In this study, I considered other conceptual frameworks that rural health care leaders could use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. In this section, I discuss three alternative conceptual frameworks that may apply to this study, including the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology, diffusion of innovation theory, and the theory of planned behavior.

## Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT)

Venkatesh and Davis (2000) proposed the UTAUT model from a synthesis of several theoretical models. Researchers have used UTAUT broadly to explain user acceptance of information technology (Dwivedi et al., 2017). The four constructs of UTAUT include performance expectancy, effects expectancy, social influence, and facilitating conditions (Hoque & Sorwar, 2017). Studies based on UTAUT have been successful despite researchers' assertion that the model has reached its threshold of explaining user acceptance of technology in organizations (Venkatesh & Davis, 2000; Venkatesh et al., 2016). Unlike the TAM, the UTAUT involves using social influence to explain users' behavioral intention to use technology. The UTAUT was not appropriate for this study because using social influence is not adequate in explaining the rural health care leaders' intentions to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

## Diffusion of Innovation (DOI) Theory.

Rogers (2003) defined innovation as an idea, practice, or object that an individual perceives as new. Technology is not considered an innovation until the end-user regards it as new (Franceschinis et al., 2017). Rogers proposed four principal measures of diffusion for new technology: perception of the characteristics of the innovation, communication channels, the timing of adoption, and the social system (Wells & Nieuwenhuis, 2018). Rogers further categorized the four principle measures into four constructs: complexity, compatibility, trialability, and relative advantage (Kapoor et al., 2014; Rogers, 2003). Complexity refers to the degree to which users perceive innovation as challenging to use or comprehend while compatibility refers to the degree to which. Trialability is the degree to which end-users may experiment with innovation before adoption, while the relative advantage is the degree to which end users perceive innovation as superior to existing practices. The DOI theory was not ideal for this study.

#### Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB).

Ajzen proposed TPB in 1985 (Ajzen, 2011). TPB is a theoretical model that researchers use to explain individuals' behavior. In TPB, Ajzen proposed that intention determines behavior (Kim et al., 2016). Ajzen identified three distinct components: attitude, subjective norm, and perceived behavioral control. Attitude refers to how an individual positively or negatively valuates accomplishing a targeted behavior. Subjective norm is when an individual believes that people may or may not support their engagement in the target behavior. Perceived behavioral control refers to when an individual believes a person can control the accomplishment of the action in question.

In addition to factoring in attitude and subjective norm, the TPB accounts for an individual's perception of using willpower to control their behavior (Kim et al., 2016). Kim et al. noted that researchers have broadly implemented the TPB in diverse contexts to predict behavioral intention in technology acceptance and use. Ajzen (2011) added additional considerations which encompass background factors and past behaviors, to strengthen the predictive powers of the TPB. The TPB was not appropriate for this research. Therefore, I did not use TBP as a conceptual framework for this study.

#### **Technology Acceptance of Telemedicine**

Despite the growth and expansion of telemedicine technology in the United States, telemedicine acceptance in U.S. health care organizations is slow (Kahn et al., 2016; Rho et al., 2015). The TAM is a primary framework for understanding telemedicine acceptance and other health information technologies (Segrelles-Calvo et al., 2015). TAM is a theoretical behavioral model for predicting and explaining user acceptance and use of information technology. Researchers in several studies have confirmed the positive influence of TAM in predicting information technology acceptance. Despite TAM's preference by many researchers in predicting users' behavioral intention to accept information technology and extension of practice, there is lack of motivation to use the TAM to understand user acceptance of telemedicine technology (Tsai, 2014). Telemedicine is the provision of health care services using information technologies from a distance (Tsai, 2014). Using telemedicine technology enables health care providers to extend medical services to rural areas and underserved populations. Although the original TAM is limited, Davis (1989) proposed the modification of TAM to include more factors depending on the study's context. Consequently, there is a need for research to expand TAM to incorporate relevant variables and how they influence telemedicine acceptance.

Researchers have used TAM to explore the adoption and implementation of telemedicine and confirmed it to be an appropriate theoretical model. Rho et al. (2014) developed the telemedicine service acceptance model based on the TAM by utilizing the survey method and structural equation modelling to analyze the validity of the model and associated causal relationship. Rho et al. (2014) confirmed that the PU of telemedicine directly influence users' behavioral intention to use the technology while the PEOU of telemedicine directly affects the PU and behavioral intention to use it. The study results by Rho et al. (2014) affirmed Davis's (1989) original composition of TAM.

Researchers have used TAM extensively to study technology acceptance in health care to identify the consequences of poor telemedicine implementation (Cilliers & Flowerday, 2014). Despite health care leaders' accelerated technology acceptance level, the implementation level of telemedicine technology elicits concern (Rho et al., 2014; Segrelles-Calvo et al., 2015). The evidence supports the validity of the external motivational factors which Davis (1989) identified in his initial TAM construct. Researchers have conducted studies on telemedicine acceptance using the TAM framework, which resulted in TAM2 and TAM3 models ensuing from these studies. Ahlan and Ahmad (2014) observed that while TAM2 focused on determining the efficacy of PU in influencing users' intention to use technology, TAM3 concentrated on unfolding interrupting factors that may affect IT acceptance in organizations.

Physicians are heavy adopters of information technology and influential in determining technology acceptance. Health care leaders' acceptance of telemedicine services may determine a successful telemedicine implementation. There is substantial evidence on physicians' role in many successful telemedicine implementations (Segrelles-Calvo et al., 2017). Hu et al. (1999) applied TAM in their study to examine physicians' acceptance of telemedicine in Hong Kong. In analyzing the data collected from 421 respondents, Ahlan and Ahmad (2014) found that PU significantly influences attitude and intention to use telemedicine while PEOU did not. Health care leaders can sustain the perception of usefulness by understanding the importance of change and support through embracing health information technology (Canfield & Galvin, 2018). The success of telemedicine acceptance and implementation depends on physicians' attitude to the technology. Therefore, it is critical to understand the determining variables that show physicians' perceptions of telemedicine technology.

Researchers have used TAM to study patients' perceptions of telemedicine acceptance. Gurupur et al. (2016) conducted a study to explore patients' perceptions of telemedicine acceptance by combining TAM attributes and the fit between individuals, task, and technology (FITT) framework to determine patients' readiness. The sample data contained only the patients' perception of usage rather than actual use. Gurupur et al. showed that patients were ready to use telemedicine but require more education and opportunity to use it. Rural health care leaders should understand that patients are ready to use telemedicine and be prepared to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

Saigi-Rubió et al. (2016) conducted a study to understand influential factors that drive telemedicine acceptance. Saigi-Rubió et al. used TAM2 to conduct binary logic analysis on 93 physicians and demonstrated that physicians have favorable views of telemedicine and its potential to reduce costs and bring value to the health care ecosystem. Rural health care leaders should have a favorable view of telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

Beldad and Hegner (2017) conducted a study to explore factors that drove German users to download and use a specific software application. Using the extended version of TAM, Beldad and Hegner tested 476 Germans users of the fitness application. By applying the structural equation modeling, Beldad and Hegner identified the three factors influencing the fitness application's popularity: PEOU, PU, and injunctive social norm. The study findings also showed that fitness application developers and descriptive social norms have no substantial influence on repeat usage intention. TAM was the ideal conceptual framework for this study.

From the available literature, a wide range of empirical evidence supports the use of TAM as the appropriate framework to study telemedicine technology. Therefore, future research is needed to determine additional TAM variables that may enhance the understanding of telemedicine acceptance. The TAM was the most appropriate conceptual framework for this study involving rural health care leaders' implementation of telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

## **Current State of Rural Health Care**

Health care providers across the US face challenges in providing adequate, accessible, and quality care to rural and underserved communities (American Hospital Association, 2019a; Paul & McDaniel, 2016). Health care delivery in the US is undergoing a rapid and dramatic evolution from a provider-centered to a patient-centered model (Vogenberg & Santilli, 2018). Residents in some US rural communities face access barriers to adequate health care services (Bolin et al., 2015; Mahar et al., 2018; Vogenberg & Santilli, 2018). The inability of the US Senate to repeal and replace the Affordable Care Act (ACA) has made ACA exchanges difficult. About 60 million people live in rural communities in the US (Paul & McDaniel, 2016). Rural health care leaders should implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability and the state of rural health care.

Rural communities require adequate health care services. The significant effects of hospital closure are the shortage of health care providers and inaccessibility to quality care by rural residents. Rural communities have become more diverse due to population increase (Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 2019). Although many health care systems are in the urban and suburban metropolitan cities, many patients receive care from rural hospitals (Bolin et al., 2015; Schuller et al., 2019). Rural hospitals provide needed health care services to approximately 59 million people in the US (American Telemedicine Association, 2015). Despite providing health care services to 57 million

people across the US, rural hospitals face severe challenges of becoming financially secure and profitable (Murphy et al., 2018). Rural hospital leaders should establish action plans to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

Rural hospital administrators are facing economic challenges in meeting the increasing demands of the patient population. The government's ongoing financial spending cuts have worsened the quality of rural health care, with some rural hospitals currently in an abysmal state (Vogenberg & Santilli, 2018). One in three rural hospitals have financial challenges, and researchers estimate that 25% of these hospitals will close within 10 years (National Rural Hospital Association). Researchers should explore ways to improve profitability in rural hospitals.

The U.S. government's insistence on a one-size-fits-all approach to delivering health care has created transportation challenges, provider shortage, and limited financial resources in rural areas (Giraldi et al., 2018; Speyer et al., 2018). The inability of health providers to deal with increased patients' admissions and readmission rates has worsened health care outcomes in rural communities (American Hospital Association, 2019a). Shortage of providers in rural facilities has severe implications for patients access to quality care. Rural communities account for about 25% of provider shortages, but only 9% of physicians and 16% of nurses serve rural communities (American Hospital Association, 2019a). Implementing telemedicine technology will improve health care in rural communities.

Rural health care leaders are leveraging technology to provide regular and specialty services (Lum et al., 2020). Some rural health care leaders are implementing

telemedicine to stem the closure of rural hospitals. Implementing telemedicine may drive the evolution of rural-based health care systems to provide regular and specialty care service (Kohler et al., 2019). Using telemedicine technology can transform the future of health care in rural areas by making care more affordable.

Researchers have confirmed the cost-saving benefits of telemedicine technology (Diaz & Player, 2020; Zholudev et al., 2018). Mahar et al. (2018) identified some costbenefits of telemedicine to include improving the distribution of hospital workers and resources within and across health care systems and locations, reducing hospital and emergency room visits, reducing hospital admission rates, and improving patients' commitment and health care outcomes. The need for telemedicine in rural communities underscores the urgency for implementation.

#### Need for Telemedicine Technology in Rural America

The rapid evolution of telemedicine technology enables better patient access to health care and reduces health care costs (Delgoshaei et al., 2017). Health care organizations are leveraging on the values and benefits of this innovative telemedicine technology. The goal of instituting telemedicine services to provide expert care to underserved areas is made possible through advanced audio-visual telecommunications technologies (Robb et al., 2019). Many factors contribute to the rapid and widespread adoption of telemedicine technology.

Telemedicine is the delivery of health care services using electronic audiovisual technology (Manocchia, 2020). Kleindienst et al. (2020) referred to telemedicine as the use of electronic technology to exchange medical information to improve patients' health
outcomes. According to Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, telemedicine uses telecommunications and information technology to enable access to health care from a distance (Portnoy et al., 2020). As cited in (Suzuki et al., 2020), the American Telemedicine Association defines telemedicine as the use and exchange of medical information among multiple locations via electronic communication to improve patients care outcomes.

The three telemedicine modalities include real-time clinical live video, store and forward, and remote patient monitoring modalities (Suzuki et al., 2020). The real-time clinical live video involves synchronous real-time communication between patients and clinicians via secure audiovisual communication channels. Store and forward involves asynchronous encounters where clinicians and health care providers send digital images, sounds, and pre-recorded videos via secure communication channels to experts in distant locations for evaluation. Remote patient monitoring involves using telemedicine technologies to monitor patients' health data remotely from patients' homes (Lum et al., 2019; Ting et al., 2019). Teleradiology involves asynchronous electronic transmission of images to a radiologist for review and interpretation (Colglazier & Brown, 2021).

Many rural hospital leaders have recognized the need to implement telemedicine technology. Before the COVID-19 pandemic, telemedicine use was low in rural communities between 2012 -2019 but increased significantly during the pandemic at the rate of 147 visits per 100 patients (Chu et al., 2021). The upsurge in the ageing and the chronically ill population influences telemedicine acceptance (Dorsey & Topol, 2016). In 2013, one in seven Americans was over the age of 65, and by 2030, the number of seniors

will multiply, constituting more than 20% of the population (Bujnowska-Fedak & Grata-Borkowska, 2015). Demographic changes have increased chronic diseases that require ongoing medical attention. A significant driver for implementing telemedicine services is to reduce costs for patients and health care providers (Diaz & Player, 2020). Saigi-Rubió et al. (2016) explored why health care providers are adopting telemedicine at a rapid pace. After surveying 398 doctors, Saigi-Rubió et al. concluded that the cost-saving benefits of using telemedicine in a physician practice are a vital driver of telemedicine technology implementation. Kessler et al. (2016) studied the cost of inpatient pediatric rheumatology visits by families in Kansas City. Forty-two percent of the respondents who live outside the city agree that using the telemedicine option reduced the high cost of traveling to hospitals in the city.

Acute shortage of physicians in rural communities is another driver of telemedicine growth. The U.S. is experiencing a present shortage of nearly 46,900 physicians, and the number may increase to 121,900 by 2032 (American Hospital Association, 2019c). Petterson et al. (2015) noted that the number of primary care doctors could no longer meet patients' demands due to acute shortage and predicted that rural health care would require over 44,000 primary physicians by 2045. Most physicians practice in the major metropolitan areas where patients and hospitals are in large numbers, making it difficult for doctors to cater to many U.S. populations living outside metropolitan areas. The situation drives health care leaders to initiate strategies for implementing telemedicine programs and technology in rural community hospitals and clinics (Kessler et al., 2016). The widespread availability of the Internet, high-quality video devices, and health information technologies are driving the need for telemedicine implementation. Telemedicine use is drawing attention in patient-centered care delivery due to the rapid development of telecommunications technologies and improved and efficient health care delivery models. With the current development in technologies, physicians and hospital leaders can provide quality care to patients at a distance. Teleconsultation, a subtype of telemedicine, is driving telemedicine adoption (Swar et al., 2019). Teleconsultation involves consultation between multiple geographically separated health care providers to deliver quality care (Paul & McDaniel, 2016). Paul and McDaniel conducted a study to understand the driving forces influencing health care providers' implementation of teleconsultation. According to Paul and McDaniel, the primary driver of teleconsultation is the time constraints physicians face from excessive demands and limited health care resources in rural areas.

With decreased reimbursements, health care providers are giving considerations to telemedicine (Vogenberg & Santilli, 2018). Many researchers have identified reimbursement issues as one of the primary barriers to telemedicine implementation. However, telemedicine is evolving because the federal and state governments are promoting it through reimbursements and the evidence-based role of telemedicine to reduce cost and improve patient satisfaction (Adler-Milstein et al., 2014; Glynn et al., 2020; Weinhold & Gurtner, 2018). Adler-Milstein et al. conducted a study to understand hospital leaders' intentions for adopting or not adopting telemedicine and demonstrated a positive correlation between private payer reimbursements and increased telemedicine adoption by health care providers. Federal and state policymakers may consider implementing policies to promote reimbursements.

# **Barriers to Telemedicine Implementation**

Health information technology (HIT) can address many of the challenges health care leaders experience across the U.S. With HIT and telemedicine technology, hospital leaders could provide quality and cost-effective care to underserved and rural communities (Saigi-Rubió et al., 2016; Ward et al., 2014). Health care providers and institutions should employ telemedicine solutions to improve access to cost-effective and quality care services to rural communities with limited access to health care. Researchers have affirmed the effectiveness and efficiency of using telemedicine to bridge the geographical gap and barriers to accessing quality care (Kruse et al., 2016). Notwithstanding that scholars have proffered telemedicine technology as a solution to reduce disparity in health care, there exist barriers that impede implementation.

Despite telemedicine's potential to improve health care access and reduce the cost of care, several studies have shown that health care leaders' rate of adoption and implementation are slow (LeRouge & Garfield, 2013). In 2010, only about 10% of hospitals had adopted telemedicine (Adler-Milstein et al., 2014). Although there is growing evidence regarding the increased adoption of telemedicine in the US, telemedicine adoption in rural hospitals remains limited, with insufficient data to inform implementation efforts (Ray et al., 2017). Health care leaders face challenges in implementing telemedicine services to make health care accessible and cost-effective to rural patients due to low adoption by rural and community hospitals (Douglas et al., 2017). Researchers have attributed the discouraging rate of telemedicine adoption by rural health care leaders to various factors and barriers.

Several factors are responsible for the poor implementation of telemedicine. Weinstein et al. (2014) recognized three significant barriers that require government and regulatory involvement. The barriers are decreased reimbursement of telemedicine services, nationwide telemedicine licensing, and accreditation of hospitals to provide telemedicine services. In an analytical study to determine the challenges in telemedicine adoption, Dantu and Mahapatra (2013) identified four categories of barriers that affect the successful implementations of telemedicine. The barriers include individual factors, institutional, regulatory, and technological barriers (Dantu & Mahapatra, 2013). Individual elements are when the perceptions of physicians, nurses, and other clinical staff may influence telemedicine adoption, while regulatory barriers involve government policies and standards that affect telemedicine adoption (Dantu & Mahapatra, 2013). Institutional factors such as lack of funds, training, lack of reimbursement, and management support negatively impact telemedicine adoption. Technological barriers involve inadequate communication equipment, lack of data standards, integration, and interoperability of health care systems (Dantu & Mahapatra, 2013).

Driessen et al. (2018) conducted a study to explore the barriers impacting telemedicine. Driessen at al. surveyed a group of attendees at a telemedicine summit at the University of Pittsburgh and identified three barriers that negatively affect telemedicine adoption. The barriers include high initial investments needed to implement telemedicine, measurable return on investments, and the arduous task of learning telemedicine usage. Wickramasinghe et al. (2016) conducted an extensive literature review and interviewed participants to identify the challenges affecting telemedicine services delivery to diabetic patients in an indigenous rural population. Wickramasinghe et al. identified the barriers to implementing telemedicine services in the rural communities to include the potential high failure of telemedicine, lack of technical expertise in using telemedicine equipment, and lack of local staff to manage telemedicine programs.

Jang-Jaccard et al. (2014) conducted a literature review to identify telemedicine adoption barriers in rural Australia. According to Jang-Jaccard et al., regulatory, financial, technological, and workforce obstacles affected telemedicine implementation in rural communities. Jang-Jaccard et al. opined that the barriers, as mentioned earlier, provide insight into the complexity of adopting telemedicine in rural populations. The rural health care leaders should understand the barriers to adopting telemedicine technology to ensure its successful implementation for improved profitability.

Globally, several countries experience challenges and barriers to telemedicine adoption and implementation. In many studies, researchers have confirmed that several countries experience barriers to implement telemedicine. Kruse et al. (2016b) conducted an in-depth literature review to learn barriers affecting the use of telemedicine in many countries. Kruse et al. analyzed 30 journal articles and identified 33 barriers. The significant barriers include non-savvy technology staff (11%), staff resistance to change (8%), implementation costs (8%), reimbursement (5%), patients' age (5%), and patients' level of education (5%). Other barriers fell below 4%. Kruse et al. concluded that health care administrators could eliminate significant barriers through training, change management strategies, and policy changes.

Some health care leaders are reluctant to implement telemedicine. Brooks et al. (2013) interviewed health care providers to learn their intention to adopt telemedicine technologies in their organizations. Brooks et al. opined that health care providers are reluctant to implement telemedicine solutions due to barriers associated with clinical workflows, licensure, credentialing, and reimbursement. On the contrary, the health care providers acknowledged overcoming several of the obstacles because of technological advances. In recent studies, researchers have noted the gradual elimination of impediments to telemedicine acceptance and implementation. By eliminating telemedicine adoption challenges, rural hospital leaders could benefit from using telemedicine technology to bring quality and accessible care to underserved communities and rural areas.

#### **Benefits of Telemedicine Implementation**

Health care leaders are increasingly implementing telemedicine solutions to improve patients care outcomes (Carter, 2014; Maia et al., 2019). Health care professionals utilize telemedicine solutions efficiently in critical care, rural health care, and emergency care. Much empirical evidence supports the benefits of using telemedicine spanning from health, technological, economic domains, to social and organizational spectrum. Hospitals and health care providers are implementing telemedicine because of its benefits, including virtual consultations with distant specialists, telemonitoring, synchronous and asynchronous services, and affordable and convenient care options for patients (American Telemedicine Association, 2015; Su & Das, 2020).

Hospital leaders use telemedicine technology to advocate quality patient care by enabling increased access to quality care services and solutions (Maia et al., 2019). Telemedicine is accelerating the evolution of care made possible by advancements in computing and communications technologies. With telemedicine, health care providers can provide a continuum of quality health care to areas and communities with limited or no access to quality health care, comparable to that received in hospitals and clinical contexts. Although several researchers confirmed the benefit of using telemedicine, some researchers argue that there is no significant difference in quality care between inpatient hospital visits and services provided via telemedicine (Zhang, 2016). Rural hospital leader should implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

### **Patient Satisfaction**

Telemedicine has the potential to improve patient satisfaction. In many studies, researchers have affirmed the use of telemedicine technologies to provide health care providers with opportunities to extend care and improve patient satisfaction (Watson, 2016). Using telemedicine services to connect patients to a multidisciplinary set of clinical teams remotely via secure virtual video telecommunications systems may maximize patient satisfaction. Patient satisfaction is a direct result of telemedicine services that meet user expectation. Kruse et al. (2017) conducted a study to explore the relationship between telemedicine and patient satisfaction and showed that services via telemedicine solutions met patient expectations. Rural hospital leaders should implement

telemedicine technology to enhance patient satisfaction, thereby improving profitability.

In several studies, researchers have observed the benefits of using telemedicine in-home health agencies to increase patient satisfaction. Grant et al. (2015) conducted a study on the Evangelical Lutheran Good Samaritan Society's Living Well at Home initiative. The program's goal was to provide telemedicine services to clients in assisted living and home health care settings. Grant et al. randomly recruited and provided telemedicine services to 820 senior residents. Their findings showed that patients living in in-home care residencies with telemedicine services are more satisfied than patients in residencies lacking telemedicine services.

Patient demand for telemedicine services has increased due to benefits from telemedicine services. For over 15 years, many studies have shown patient acceptance and satisfaction with telemedicine (Jansen-Kosterink et al., 2019; Hanna et al., 2016). The availability of telemedicine services in health care settings and hospitals has significantly impacted patients, families, and communities (Bice-Urbach & Kratochwill, 2016). Researchers have reported that telemedicine technology increased patient satisfaction by reducing travel times and stress for the patient by providing them access to providers without traveling long distances to receive care (Dullet et al., 2017). Rural hospital leaders could enhance patient satisfaction by implementing telemedicine technology for improved profitability.

### **Cost-benefits of Telemedicine**

Many research findings support the use of telemedicine technology to reduce the cost for both the patient and provider (Schumacher, 2015). According to Schumacher,

researchers have shown consistent evidence that telemedicine services reduce costs and increase efficiency through cost-effective and improved management of chronic diseases. By providing telemedicine services, patients save on costs due to decreased travel times, reduced hospital visits, and unnecessary hospital admissions. In a study on diabetic retinopathy, Newton (2014) noted that telemedicine was cost-effective in diabetes management. Screening for diabetic retinopathy in a community health center was 35% less in cost savings using telemedicine than direct patient observation.

Researchers have argued against the economic benefits of telemedicine technology. Zanaboni and Wootton (2012) noted that although certain telemedicine services may be inexpensive, there is no evidence proving that telemedicine is costeffective. Similarly, Chandwani and Dwivedi (2015) and De la Torre-Díez et al. (2015) noted that despite several studies on the effectiveness of telemedicine, poor research design results in a flawed understanding of the economic benefits of telemedicine. Pereira (2017) confirmed a correlation between telemedicine implementation and profitability. By implementing telemedicine technology, rural hospital leaders could improve profitability and establish the economic benefits of telemedicine services.

# **Remote Monitoring**

The use of telemedicine services improves health care access to patients living in remote locations. With the growing provider shortage in rural, urban, and underserved populations, telemedicine may increase health care access to new patients. Case study researchers confirm health care providers' use of telemedicine services to solve health care access barriers in inner cities, rural towns, villages, and underserved communities. In the last 40 years, physicians have used telemedicine to provide health care services to patients in remote locations and provide care beyond their offices and clinics (Cooper, 2015). Telemedicine technology could improve health care services in rural communities.

Physicians use telemedicine solutions to provide care to patients who cannot faceto-face interaction with physicians due to distance limitations. Newton (2014) noted that some researchers had reported patients' attitude to virtual communication instead of faceto-face interaction with physicians. However, other researchers have shown contrary evidence to prove that patients are open to virtual electronic encounters (Newton, 2014). Rural hospital leaders should implement telemedicine technology to facilitate remote provider-patient interaction and improve care outcomes.

### **Improved Health Outcomes**

The use of telemedicine improves the quality of care and better patient outcomes. In many studies, researchers have affirmed that the quality of telemedicine services is reasonable compared to the care and services offered in in-person consultations. Telemedicine provides better care outcomes in some specialties such as mental health, radiology, and stroke management, with better results and patient satisfaction. For example, Otero et al. (2014) reported the benefits of using telemedicine in pediatric critical care to improve patient outcomes.

Researchers have demonstrated the use of telemedicine technology in mental health. Pruitt et al. (2014) noted the benefits of telemedicine to provide mental health services directly to patients in their homes. Between 2005 and 2017, the majority of telemedicine visits were for mental and behavioral health. Pruitt et al. (2014) and Otero et al. (2014) noted that home-based telemedicine health care services offer benefits resulting in patient satisfaction and improved treatment outcomes. Many providers offer telemedicine services to improve mental and behavioral conditions (Bashshur et al., 2016). Rural hospital leaders should implement telemedicine technology to improve mental health gap in rural communities.

# **Telemedicine Impact on Rural Hospital Profitability**

Rural hospital leaders experience constant financial distress which could have an impact on business profitability. The percentage of rural hospitals at elevated risk of financial hardship has grown from 7.1% in 2015 to 9.2% in 2019 (Thomas et al., 2019). Thomas et al. observed that some of the contributing factors to rural hospitals' financial predicaments include labor costs, payor mix, and state and federal policies. Although rural hospitals make up 40% of hospitals in the U.S., starting in 2010, rural hospital closures increased by 34% due to financial distress (American Hospital Association, 2018). Between 2010 and 2015, over 100 rural hospitals have closed to patients needing inpatient care (Holmes et al., 2019).

Some rural hospitals are closing due to ongoing financial problems, demographic changes, and decreased demand for inpatient services (American Hospital Association, 2019a). The closures have left millions of rural residents without access to health care services (Holmes et al., 2019). Regardless of rural hospitals' financial predicaments, rural hospitals must ensure that patients have access to quality care (Lagrou et al., 2018). Rural hospital close due to several factors from the hospital's financial health to when revenue is not consistent with set expenses (Kaufman et al., 2015). Researchers have attached the

financial and reduced workforce factors to the recent epidemic regarding the rapid closure of rural hospitals because of financial instability and decreased revenue (Germack et al., 2019).

Health care expenses are a significant factor in impacting rural hospitals' financial performance. Rural hospitals spend more on operating and non-operating expenses than urban hospitals. Sixty percent of rural hospital revenue comes from Medicare, Medicaid, and government payers (American Hospital Association, 2019a). Rural hospitals are overburdened with financial responsibilities hindering their ability to increase revenue and improve profitability (Noles et al., 2015). Factors preventing profitability include economics of scale, decreased revenue due to payer mix, and decreased wasteful utilization of resources (McWilliams & Schwartz, 2017).

Rural hospital leaders are seeking solutions and strategies to improve rural hospital profitability. Rural hospital leaders are concerned with financial challenges and interested in finding lasting solutions to stem rural hospital closures (Hall & Owings, 2014; Holmes et al., 2019). Slowing the trend of rural hospital closures would involve a multifaceted approach, encompassing technology, and sustainable solutions. One possible technology solution is the adoption and use of telemedicine technologies (Schadelbauer, 2017).

Telemedicine technology in rural hospitals may improve rural hospital profitability. Many health care institutions have used telemedicine technology to improve their financial performance. Rural hospital leaders can leverage telemedicine technology to increase revenue and improve profitability. Implementing telemedicine technology may increase access to quality medical care for rural populations (Robb et al., 2019). Researchers have explored rural hospitals' readiness to embrace telemedicine (Kahn, 2015). Researchers have taken a fascinating look at the impact of telemedicine on rural hospital profitability. Growing evidence indicates that telemedicine use reduces health care costs for both patients and health care providers (American Hospital Association, 2016; Radfar et al., 2017). Telemedicine can be a cost-effective strategy for collaborating with other health care facilities (American Hospital Association, 2019b; Schadelbauer, 2017).

Researchers view telemedicine as a cost-effective method of delivering patient care by improving health care access (American Hospital Association, 2019a; Taylor et al., 2015). For example, the Veteran Health Administration (VHA) saved on costs and improved profitability using telemedicine. Between 2000 and 2003, the VHA conducted a pilot program in multiple states which encompassed seven hospitals, ten outpatient clinics, 28 community based/rural clinics, and 900 patients (American Hospital Association, 2016). The results include 40% reduction in emergency room visits, 63% reduction in hospital admissions, 83% decreased nursing home bed care, and 94% increased patient satisfaction (American Hospital Association, 2016). The estimated cost per patient in the Veteran Affairs (VA) telehealth program is \$1,600 per year compared to VHA home-based primary care and nursing home care at \$13,121 per patient-year and \$77,745 per year respectively (American Hospital Association, 2016).

Thomas et al. (2018) conducted a study to evaluate the cost benefits of a telepsychiatry emergency consultation program in a pediatric hospital. In their study, the

researchers compared telepsychiatry consultations program outcomes with regular care involving ambulance transportation for in-person psychiatric emergency consultation. Findings revealed that telepsychiatry consultations for pediatric emergencies were more cost-effective than in-person psychiatry consultation at the children's hospital (Thomas et al., 2018). This study also found that telepsychiatry improved hospital operational efficiency and increased patient satisfaction (Thomas et al., 2018).

Telemedicine use may increase patient satisfaction leading to rural hospital profitability. Researchers suggest the telemedicine use may increase provider and patient satisfaction (Johnson, 2019). The role of telemedicine in postoperative care has led to enhanced patient satisfaction and increased cost savings for health care providers (Williams et al., 2018). By enabling rural patients to receive care in a local rural health care setting, telemedicine may improve the relationship between rural hospital leaders and citizens (Potter et al., 2016).

Implementing telemedicine may solve workforce shortages prevalent in rural hospitals. Rural hospitals face challenges and expenses in recruiting and retaining physicians, nurses, and specialists (American Hospital Association, 2019b; Marcin et al., 2015). Rural hospitals have fewer health care professionals due to limited financial resources. Patients in rural communities lack access to quality care due to a shortage of physicians and health care staff. Sixty percent of the US population lives in rural areas, and only 10% of physicians practice in rural communities (National Rural Health Association, 2016). About 60% of professional medical staff shortage areas in the US occur in rural areas (Kippenbrock et al., 2015; Marcin et al., 2015).

The workforce shortages in professional medical staff create challenges for rural hospitals to provide quality care and lead to a significant decrease in patient satisfaction (Marcin et al., 2015). By enabling telemedicine services, rural hospitals may save on expenses associated with hiring and paying health care professionals. Rural hospitals experiencing provider shortages can use telemedicine technology with trained health care professionals at a less expensive rate.

Evidence suggests that the use of telemedicine services lead to a reduction of follow-up visits in rural hospitals. For example, Uscher-Pines and Mehrotra (2014) established that only 6% of patients using telemedicine services required a follow-up visit compared to 13% and 20% of follow-up visits to physician's office and emergency department respectively for the same health care condition. Telemedicine translates to improved outcomes and cost-savings and reduction in medical expenditure for the rural hospital (Schadelbauer, 2017).

Rural hospitals face ongoing financial distress that impacts their profitability. Many research findings show that rural hospitals may increase revenue and improve profitability using telemedicine technology. Rural hospitals may use telemedicine to reduce hospital expenditures, improve patient satisfaction, and increase revenue while providing access to quality care to rural populations. Further research is needed to explore and understand other ways telemedicine can help rural hospitals achieve financial independence, improve revenue, and eliminate reliance on government reimbursements.

# **Leadership Strategies**

Leadership plays an essential role in any organization. Leaders are change agents vital to accomplishing organizational goals and initiatives (Blomme, Kodden, and Beasley-Suffolk (2015). Business leaders count on capable leadership as a roadmap to organizational changes. However, several studies show that many organizations fail to adapt to changes and implement strategic plans because of mediocre leadership strategies (Pasmore, 2014). According to Pasmore (2014), leadership strategies support an organization's business initiatives. Leadership is an essential driver in successful strategy execution. Researchers have found leadership a significant strategy execution barrier in many organizations (Mubarak & Yusoff, 2019). Effective leadership strategies help organizations attain growth and sustainability through vision and competency (Gupta, 2018). Ineffective leadership experience and strategies may significantly and negatively impact organizational performance, competitiveness, and sustainability (Bansal & Desjardine, 2014; Gupta, 2018).

Despite significant investments, many health information implementations have failed due to inferior leadership roles and strategies (Laukka, Huhtakangas, Heponiemi, & Kanste, 2020). According to Walsh & Rumsfeld (2017), ineffective leadership strategies are a leading factor in the failure of health information technology implementations in the United States. Leadership strategies unearth issues that an organization must confront to achieve desired outcomes.

Leaders use a collaborative leadership strategy to encourage interaction and instill employee motivation (Wang & Wang, 2014). Studies have shown leadership strategies on team collaboration, productivity, and effectiveness in sustaining health care innovations (Aaron & Sommerfield, 2012). Leadership strategies can provide an environment that encourages positive team collaboration.

The leadership strategy of involving stakeholders significantly improves organizational performance (Eskerod & Larsen, 2018; Touzi et al., 2016). Business managers should identify and meet stakeholders' requirements to improve the business success rate and performance (Eskerod & Larsen, 2018). There is a need to for business leaders to partner with important stakeholders to achieve organizational performance and profitability.

A leadership strategy of communication is vital in any organizational initiative (Kniffin et al., 2015). Communication and rapport between leaders and employees result in organizations' success and profitability (Vardaman, Gondo, & Allen, 2014). In various settings, leadership roles influence successful implementations (Ehrhart, Aarons, & Farahnak,2014). Leaders set the tone and agenda for strategic initiatives that encompass the implementation of new technologies and services (Moulin, Ehrhart, and Aarons, 2017). Leadership behaviors and styles play essential roles in the successful strategies for implementing initiatives.

Strategic leadership is the ability to communicate an organization's vision and motivate others to implement its strategic goals. Strategic leadership involves being knowledgeable about implementation goals, proactive in problem-solving, and perseverance during the implementation process (Aarons, Ehrhart, & Farahnak, 2014). Strategic leadership practices may significantly impact organizations' financial performance (Carter & Greer, 2013). Strategic leadership can influence a leadership team's effectiveness in an organization (Zhang, Li, Ulrich, & Dick, 2013).

Business leaders need effective leadership strategies to bring change and implement innovations in organizations. Leadership strategies need to align with an organization's mission and vision (Dillard & Layzell, 2014). Leadership strategies are essential to organizational growth and support the effective implementation of an organization's business initiatives.

### **Transition and Summary**

This study's primary focus was to explore leadership strategies rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. Many rural hospital leaders face a financial dilemma because they lack the leadership strategies to implement solutions to increase revenue and grow the organization. Section 1 contains the background of the problem, the problem statement, the purpose statement, the nature of the study, the research question, and the interview questions. Other contents in Section 1 include the conceptual framework; definition of terms; assumptions, limitations, and delimitations of the study; and significance of the study. Section 1 also covers a review of academic and professional literature, including discussions on TAM and telemedicine technology acceptance.

In section 2, I reiterate the purpose of the study and discuss my role as the researcher, the participants, the research methodology and design, and the population and sampling strategies. Section 2 also includes discussions on ethical research, data collection instruments and technique, data organization techniques, data analysis

technique, and the validity and reliability of the research. In section 3, I present an overview of the study and data from the study findings, including data from interviews and analysis of the interviews. Section 3 contain discussions on the application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action and further study, reflections, and the summary and study conclusions.

# Section 2: The Project

In this qualitative case study, I explored the leadership strategies rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. In Section 2, I restate the purpose statement and discuss the role of the researcher, participants, research methods and designs, population and sampling, and ethical research. Other contents of this section include discussions on data collection instruments and techniques, data organization techniques, data analysis, and reliability and validity of the study findings.

### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the leadership strategies that rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. The target population consisted of five health care administrators of a rural hospital in a Midwestern U.S. state, who have successfully implemented telemedicine technology to improve profitability. The implications for social change might include health care leaders acquiring leadership strategies to provide patients' access to specialty care, improved health care outcomes, and enhanced access to health care services by rural communities. This study's findings could contribute to positive social change by offering employment opportunities and generating income to employees to benefit their families, thereby boosting the local economy.

#### **Role of the Researcher**

In qualitative research, the researcher's role includes selecting participants, collecting, organizing, and analyzing data (Male, 2016; Nelson et al., 2015). The researcher is the primary data collection instrument in qualitative studies (Fusch et al.,

2017); Peredaryenko & Krauss, 2013). In this study, I was the primary data collection instrument. My role as a researcher was to collect and analyze data regarding successful implementation of telemedicine in a rural hospital. McKee et al. (2015) noted that the researcher's fundamental role is to a build trusting relationship. I endeavored to build trusting relationships with study participants. Sutton and Austin (2015) opined that the role of the researcher in qualitative research is to attempt to access the thoughts, intentions, and opinions of study participants. During the data collection, I focused on participants' thoughts, experiences, and intentions.

Researchers and participants can intentionally or unintentionally introduce their personal bias or worldview in social research. Participant bias has an impact on research credibility (Zapien, 2017). Therefore, a researcher must address and mitigate bias during data collection and analysis. Because I was the researcher and primary data collection instrument, I identified all known personal bias and kept a diary of my own biases on mitigating any concerns during the data collection process. Yin (2014) noted the high propensity of bias in case studies and advised researchers to take issues of bias severely. I am a technology professional in a software company and have no affiliation with the rural hospital that was studied.

My 12 years of experience in software organization and a strong passion for telemedicine solutions makes me susceptible to bias. The real test of a credible researcher is the ability to identify biases that could derail the study and mitigate them to enhance the accurate and in-depth analysis of the study results. Peredaryenko and Krauss (2013) posited that researchers bring to the research context individual biases, assumptions, and beliefs that may be contrary to that of the study participants. Researchers experience credibility issues if they have an existing relationship with interview participants (McDermidet al., 2014). I recognized my personal view of the world and discerned the presence of a personal lens to enhance my understanding and interpretation of the participants' behaviors and reflections.

Qualitative researchers should understand the phenomenon or problem through the lens of the study participants to answer the research question. Researchers should use various techniques to mitigate bias, prevent misinterpretation, and support consistency of data collection (Postholm & Skrøvset, 2013). To mitigate my personal bias, I adopted four techniques. First, I engaged and formed a mutual relationship with participants during the data collection phase. Second, I ensured transparency by documenting my underlying assumptions and entrenched values that may influence the design, data collection, and analysis. Third, I used a reflective journal to record my reflections, insights, and note changes. Finally, I clarified all terminologies required in the data collection phase.

A researcher has an ethical responsibility to the participants. Researchers should follow ethical guidelines in researching by engaging in the research process honestly, trustworthy, and credible (Yin, 2014). I implemented professionalism during the entire research process. The basis for regulations and guidelines concerning the selection, use, and treatment of human research participants are the fundamental ethical principles of respect for persons, beneficence, and justice, elaborated in the *Belmont Protocol Report* (Miracle, 2016; US Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). The Belmont report for research ethics provides researchers with the guidelines for selecting and treating research participants in line with ethical principles (Bromley et al., 2015). In this study, I complied with the guidelines stipulated in the *Belmont Report* for conducting ethical research at Walden University.

To collect reliable and valid data from participants, qualitative researchers use interview questions, observations, notes, and archival company documents. The data collection phase involves using an interview protocol and interview questions (Castillo-Montoya, 2016; Yin, 2017). The interview protocol is a step-by-step instruction the researcher follows during research investigation to ensure consistency of interaction with the participants. The interview questions are the foundation of the data gathering process and should align with the research question (Guest et al., 2017). Interview protocol contains a list of interview questions and acts as a strategic guide for the researcher throughout the interview process (Yeong et al., 2018). I developed and used an interview protocol form (see Appendix A) to collect and record information during the interview process.

The six stages of data collection include identifying the sampling method and selecting the sample, designing the interview questions, obtaining Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval, providing informed consent to selected participants, maintaining privacy and confidentiality of research participants, and administering the interview (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). Before starting data collection, I applied and obtained the Walden University IRB approval (12-16-20-0312472). I used pseudo alphanumeric codes to maintain the privacy and confidentiality of the research

participants. After the interview process, I will store the data collected in a secured cabinet and passworded file for 5 years before the permanent destruction of all research data. During the face-to-face semistructured interview, I collected data in a trustworthy manner and mitigated my personal bias. To ensure data saturation, I continued to collect data until no new information was available, and themes were similar before using member checking to validate the interview data.

### **Participants**

The choice of participants in a qualitative case study is critical to the research outcome. Researchers use purposeful sampling to identify and select research participants who know the phenomenon under study (Etikan, 2016; Park & Park, 2016; Roulston, 2016). Participants' eligibility criteria for consideration in the study were that they must be senior managers or administrators of a rural hospital in a Midwestern U.S. state and must have a minimum of 5 years' experience as senior leaders. Other eligibility criteria included possession of the skills and expertise in implementing telemedicine in rural hospitals and were involved during the organization's telemedicine implementation process. A sample of five participants may be sufficient in case study research to achieve data saturation and answer the research question (Guetterman, 2015; Yin, 2014). I used the purposeful sampling technique to select five participants for this study who met the eligibility criteria and aligned with the overarching research question. I was prepared to interview five or more participants until I achieved data saturation.

Researchers must identify the most appropriate technique to access the study participants. Researchers use various techniques to gain access to research participants,

including phone, emailing, and face-to-face contact (Bowden & Galindo-Gonzalez, 2015; Cunliffe & Karunanayake, 2013; Maramwidze-Merrison, 2016; Peticca-Harris et al., 2016). To gain access to participants, I used the American Telemedicine Association (ATA) and the American Hospital Association (AHA) to identify rural hospitals that have implemented telemedicine technology. After identifying the rural hospital for the study, I obtained a list of the participants from the rural hospital's human resources department and sent letters of invitation to the prospective participants (see Appendix B). The letter of invitation included the purpose of the study, the selection criteria, and the benefits of the study. Potential participants also received the informed consent form, and only respondents who completed and returned the informed consent form participated in this study. I also gained access to participants through phone and visiting in person.

Researchers should identify strategies for establishing a working relationship with study participants. Scholars have demonstrated that establishing a working relationship with participants is essential for a qualitative researcher and critical to the success of the research (Jarvik et al., 2014; Petrova et al., 2016; Van Antwerpen & Curtis, 2016). Researchers should build trust with participants to establish credibility (Petrova et al., 2016). According to Jarvik et al. (2014), researchers must be courteous and respect the decisions of the study participants. I established a good working relationship with the participants by building trust and confidence, being courteous, and respecting their decisions. I notified the participants that any information they provided would be private and would not publish their identities in the research document. I provided \$25 gift cards to participants as compensation for participating in the study.

# **Research Method and Design**

Researchers should select the research method and design that align with the purpose of the study and the problem statement to answer the research question. The three research methods are quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods. I used the qualitative case study to explore the leadership strategies that rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. In this subsection, I describe and justify the methodology for this study.

# Method

I used a qualitative method for this study. Researchers use the qualitative approach to seek answers to research questions through open-ended interview questions, observations, document data analysis, and recorded information (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018; Hammarberg et al., 2016; Twining et al., 2017). With qualitative studies, a researcher concentrates on collecting and analyzing data to elucidate a phenomenon (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). The qualitative approach is appropriate for researchers seeking to explore the meaning of a phenomenon from the participants' perspectives and collect data through interactive participant communication (Bezboruah et al., 2014; Horne et al., 2014; Thirsk & Clark, 2017). The qualitative method was most relevant for this study because I focused on understanding the meaning of the phenomenon and interviewing participants in their setting to collect textual data.

Researchers could use qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods to explore a phenomenon. The qualitative method involves selecting participants who can answer the research question; in contrast, quantitative research suggests adhering to guidelines and

procedures, and random participant selection (Sargeant, 2012). The quantitative method involves using a hypothesis and statistical inferences to generate data (Fossaluza et al., 2017; Thirsk & Clark, 2017). The quantitative approach was not appropriate for this study because my goal was not to generate a hypothesis or rely on statistical results.

Mixed method research involves utilizing the qualitative and quantitative methods to create numerical and descriptive data to generate the study findings (Griensven et al., 2014; Halcomb & Hickman, 2015; Siddiqui et al., 2014). Researchers combine the qualitative and quantitative methods to retrieve and analyze data to gain more profound knowledge of the research phenomenon (Chilisa & Tsheko, 2014). Because I did not need a combination of participants' experience and generating statistical data, the mixed method was not appropriate for this study. The qualitative method was the most suitable method for this study because I explored the leadership strategies that rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

# **Research Design**

Researchers should select the appropriate research design for their study. Some qualitative research designs include case study, phenomenology, and ethnography (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). I used a single case study design for this study. The multiple case study was not appropriate for this study because my goal was not studying multiple hospitals to explore similarities and differences in telemedicine implementation. Researchers use a case study design to explore and analyze the phenomenon in a specific setting using multiple sources of evidence and data sources (Guetterman & Fetters, 2018; Yin, 2017). The single case study design was appropriate for this study because I explored and analyzed the phenomena using multiple data sources. Researchers select design techniques that may potentially answer the research question (Gaya & Smith, 2016; Yin, 2014). The case study design was the most appropriate research design to answer the research question of what leadership strategies rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

Researchers use the phenomenological design to understand and interpret phenomena through the participants' lived experiences in their original contexts (DeFelice & Janesick, 2015; Padilla-Díaz, 2015). Because I did not explore the phenomena through participants' lived experiences, the phenomenological design was not appropriate for this study. Researchers use an ethnographic design to immerse themselves in the participants' culture to understand the context of the phenomenon (Lewis, 2015). In ethnography, a researcher studies an entire culture and conducts a contextual observation of participants (Crandall et al., 2016). The ethnography design was not appropriate for this study because my intent was not to explore participants' organizational cultures or backgrounds and how they affect hospital leaders' implementation of telemedicine.

Qualitative researchers must reach data saturation to enhance the reliability and validity of the study. Data saturation refers to when no new information, no new codes, no new themes, no further information emerges from the data, and where study findings can be replicated (Fusch & Ness, 2015). According to Hancock et al. (2016), achieving data saturation enhances research quality. The failure to achieve data saturation affects research validity and quality of research findings. In member checking, the researcher

allows participants to review transcripts of interviews for accurate recording (Houghton et al., 2013). I continued to interview participants until no new themes or information emerged to enhance the validity and reliability of the study findings. Additionally, I implemented member checking and the methodological triangulation technique to collect in-depth and rich data.

### **Population and Sampling**

The target population for this study were health care leaders of one rural hospital in a Midwestern U.S. state. A population refers to a group of individuals with similar features that align with the research question (Asiamah et al., 2017). Sampling involves selecting a small set of individuals or sources that represent an entire population to collect data to solve a research problem (Fowler, 2014; Gentles et al., 2015). The sample included five health care administrators who are directors and managers with a minimum of 5 years of experience in a leadership position and have successfully used their leadership skills and expertise to implement telemedicine technology successfully in a rural hospital.

I used purposeful sampling method in this study. Purposeful sampling is a sampling technique involving the selection of information-rich cases to comprehend a phenomenon under study (Benoot et al., 2016). Researchers use information-rich cases to gain knowledge that is pivotal to the purpose of the study (Patton, 2015). Researchers use the purposeful sampling technique to ensure that the target population yields information that is relevant, valuable, and able to resolve the research questions for the study (Yin, 2017). I contacted the eligible participants who agreed to participate in the study by email

or phone calls, then set schedules for one-on-one interviews. I used the purposeful sampling technique to select hospital leaders in one rural hospital in a Midwestern U.S. state to examine leadership strategies for implementing telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

Researchers have argued that there are no explicit guidelines on sample size. Vasileiou et al. (2018) posited that in qualitative studies, the richness and quality of collected data and the quality of the sample are more relevant than the sample size. Sousa (2014) argued that the number of participants is unimportant if there is sufficient evidence to support the research. Sandelowski (1995), as cited in Vasileiou et al. (2018) argued that if each participant provides high quality and information-rich information, the small sample size is sufficient. This study's sample included five hospital administrators who have a minimum of 5 years in a leadership position and have successfully used their leadership skills and experience to implement telemedicine technology in a rural hospital.

Researchers use data saturation to boost the credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability of their study (Yin, 2014). Data saturation indicates the point when the sampling of data should cease in the data collection phase. I conducted follow up interviews to collect in-depth and information-rich data. I continued to reinterview participants until there was no new information to achieve data saturation. The follow-up interviews provide an opportunity for the researchers to ask probing questions to ensure that no new data exists.

To enhance study validity and verify data saturation, I used member checking and the methodological triangulation technique. In member checking, the researcher allows participants to review transcripts of interviews for accurate recording (Houghton et al., 2013). The purpose of triangulation is to draw data from multiple sources that may expand the researcher's understanding of the underlying issues of the phenomenon under study (Campbell et al., 2020; Noble & Heale, 2019). Methodological triangulation involves using multiple methods to study a phenomenon (Abdalla et al., 2018). Researchers apply methodological triangulation by using various sources of evidence to confirm their study findings, gain an in-depth understanding of the studied phenomenon, and ensure that data saturation is achieved (Hussein, 2015; Kolb, 2012; Natow, 2019). To verify data saturation, the member checking of interviews with five rural hospital leaders and reviewing of non-confidential hospital documents provided adequate information to reach data saturation.

### **Ethical Research**

Researchers must conform to ethical principles in conducting a research study. Ethical considerations are principles and guidelines for researching with integrity and responsibility (Cleary et al., 2014; Grossoehme, 2014). In qualitative research, the relationship between the researcher and participants can be ethically challenging to participants because both are direct actors in the different phases of the study (Sanjari et al., 2014). Scholars have recognized the fundamental need to formulate clear ethical guidelines. Ethical consideration is critical in every scholarly research that involves the human population to guide the researcher on how to protect study participants (Kaewkungwal & Adams, 2019; Moustakas, 1994). The common ethical dilemmas that qualitative researchers experience include anonymity, confidentiality, informed consent, and researchers' bias on the participants (Sanjari et al., 2014). I adhered to the Belmont ethical standards in this study.

Researchers must comply with ethical guidelines for conducting human research. Resnick (2011) discussed two benefits to researchers for adhering to ethical guidelines in research. The guidelines support the purpose of the study, including knowledge, truth, and the prevention of erroneous results. Researchers use guidelines that promote and support collaboration between researchers and participants, such as trust, mutual respect, and accountability. Ethical considerations help researchers develop research within the research community (Chesser et al., 2019; Roberts et al., 2019). While researchers must adhere to established guidelines when conducting research involving humans, some researchers knowingly or unknowingly ignore these guidelines. I adhered to the ethical guidelines in conducting this research study.

Applying the principle of ethical consideration involves following Walden University IRB ethical requirements. In line with IRB requirements, I attended the Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative (CITI Program) online training on Human Subjects Protection. A Researcher must adhere to the guidelines, establish the necessity of the research, and safeguard the participants' well-being (Kim, 2012). Before commencing this research study, I applied to and obtained approval from Walden University IRB. The Walden University IRB approval number is 12-16-20-0312472. By obtaining the Walden University IRB approval, I attested to adhering to ethical principles and research ethics protocol that proscribes the exploitation of human participants. According to Rowley (2012), qualitative researchers must use the informed consent form to obtain the participants' permission. A key feature of informed consent involves communicating the study's benefits and risks to the participants (Nusbaum et al., 2017). The principles of informed consent require that participants in any study voluntarily sign an agreement to participate in a study (Thomas & Pettitt, 2016). Informed consent is a voluntary agreement where the researcher informs participants that participation in the research is not mandatory. I provided informed consent forms (see Appendix C) to participants and obtained their written consent before the interview. I used the informed consent form to provide participants with relevant information for making an informed decision regarding their willingness to participate in this research study. I also offered all participants full disclosure that explains in detail the nature and scope of the study.

To further comply with ethical standards, I explained the interview protocol to the participants (see Appendix A), including recording the interview and taking notes. In qualitative research, participants are free to withdraw from the study at any time (Hadidi et al., 2013). Participation in this study was voluntary, and participants can refuse to participate or withdraw from participation without penalty. I informed the participants that they are free to withdraw their participation from the study at any time before, during, and after the interview by informing me through email, phone, or face-to-face contact. Because no participant indicated interest to withdraw from this study, I neither returned the notes retrieved from participants nor deleted applicable recordings.

Protecting participants' privacy is a top priority to comply with the ethical standards of research (Yun et al., 2013). Yun et al. listed participants' main privacy concerns: location privacy, electronic privacy, communication privacy, individual information privacy, and public privacy. I informed the participants of their right to choose the location for their interview. Researchers must assign abstract codes or numbers to mask the participants' identities (Damianakis & Woodford, 2012). As suggested by Marshall and Rossman (2016), I assigned alphanumeric codes and labels to every participant to maintain their anonymity by using generic names for each participant such as P1001, P1002, P1003, P1004 and P1005.

To comply with Walden University's guidelines regarding the destruction of data collected from participants, I protected participants' identities and safeguarded the information I received by storing the data in a secure place for 5 years. After 5 years, I will destroy all participants' data, and in adherence to ethical standards, I did not reveal the participants' identities.

# **Data Collection**

#### Instruments

The data collection instruments play a critical role in the quality of qualitative research. The researcher is the primary data collection instrument in qualitative research studies (Johnston, 2017). I served as the primary data collection instrument in this study. As active participants, researchers create a collaborative, interactive context for participants to provide their opinions and life experiences (Pezalla et al., 2012). As the primary data instrument, I worked to minimize bias and perform self-reflexivity. During

the data collection phase, I designed the interview questions, provided informed consent to participants, maintained the privacy and confidentiality of research participants, and conducted semistructured interviews.

Many data collection instruments are available for case study research. For this study, I used the semistructured interview instrument to obtain the participants' responses. Researchers use the semistructured interview technique to capture various responses from participants (Chen et al., 2014). I drafted eight semistructured, open-ended interview questions (See Appendix D) to elicit responses from participants. I conducted telephone interviews with the participants using a standard interview protocol. The interview protocol is a list of interview questions and a strategic guide for the researcher during the interview phase (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012). A well-written interview protocol is crucial in obtaining high-quality information-rich data in qualitative interviews.

In current interview resources, there is lack of practical guidelines for developing and refining interview protocols. Some researchers use the Interview Protocol Refinement (IPR) framework to ensure the reliability of their interview protocols (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). According to Castillo-Montoya (2016), IPR involves ensuring that interview questions align with the research question, creating a probing-based conversation, third-party interview protocol review, and using the protocol for the pilot interview. Therefore, I implemented Castillo-Montoya's IPR to develop the interview protocol for this study. After the interview, I compared the audio recordings with my notes to ensure accuracy and consistency.
Qualitative researchers evaluate research data for credibility and validity. To enhance the credibility and validity of collected data, Lincoln and Guba (1985) introduced four benchmarks that researchers could use to maintain rigor and trustworthiness in qualitative research. The benchmarks are credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Cope, 2014; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). To ensure credibility, researchers interact directly with participants to capture their authentic perspectives (Cope, 2014). To ensure credibility, I had telephone interaction with participants to capture their accurate viewpoints regarding leadership strategies for implementing telemedicine technology in the rural hospital to improve profitability.

Member checking is a technique for validating the credibility of research findings (Birt et al., 2016). Researchers use member checking to review transcripts of interviews for accurate recording (Houghton, Casey, et al., 2013; Houghton, Murphy, et al., 2015). Employing member checking helps the researcher gather enough data and reach data saturation. After transcribing and analyzing the interview data, I implemented member checking by providing summary of interviews to individual participants to verify accuracy. Using member checking and triangulation instruments, I added rigor and rich thickness to research findings, thereby, aiding to reach data saturation.

Researchers use triangulation to improve the investigation and elucidation of research findings. In triangulation, researchers draw data from multiple sources to expand their understanding of the underlying issues of the phenomenon under study (Campbell et al., 2020). Scholars concur that triangulation is a validity technique to ensure the accuracy of study results (Houghton, Murphy, et al., 2015). Methodological triangulation

involves the use of multiple data sources to study and evaluate a phenomenon. Houghton, Casey, et al. (2013), Bekhet and Zauszniewski (2012), and Drouin et al. (2015) noted that methodological triangulation accelerates affirmation of findings, detailed data, confirmability, and in-depth understanding of the phenomenon under study. I used methodological triangulation to explore the leadership strategies that rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

## **Data Collection Technique**

Data collection is a valuable task in research projects. Researchers implement data collection techniques to systematically collect information about their objects of study and the settings in which the studies occur. Using the proper data collection technique ensures that researchers collect credible and reliable qualitative data. Elo et al. (2014) affirmed that adopting the most appropriate data collection method is important to ensure the credibility of a study. The conventional data collection techniques available to researchers conducting case study include interviews, focus groups, company documents, direct observation, participant observation field notes, archival records, and tangible artifacts (Aborisade, 2013; O'Nyumba et al., 2018; Yin, 2017). Yin encouraged researchers to supplement interview data with data from secondary sources.

I began data collection after obtaining IRB approval from Walden University IRB. After obtaining IRB approval, I consulted with the rural hospital research department, who referred me to the rural hospital's Chief Executive Officer (CEO). Next, I worked with the office of the CEO to obtain the contact information of 8 potential participants. 5 out of 5 potential participants agree to participate in the study. I commenced this study by sending a letter of invitation (see Appendix C) through email to each participant. The content of the email included a brief background of the purpose of this study. Next, I sent an email with the attached informed consent form to each participant for review and consent to indicate their willingness to participate in the study. After selecting the five participants, I consulted with the participants on the most suitable date and time to conduct a 30-45-minutes phone interview session. I had planned face-toface interview sessions with selected participants but deferred to Zoom phone interviews because of COVID-19 restrictions. Before the interview date, I sent a reminder email to the consented participants to reaffirm the date and time of the phone interview.

Researchers prefer digital recording devices to recording apps on mobile devices (Annik, 2017; Garcia et al., 2016). Mobile recording apps could be unreliable and may contain vulnerabilities and pose security risks (Alsaleh et al., 2017). To record participants' interviews, I used Zoom Cloud-based conferencing audio recording service. The advantages of using the electronic forms of data collection include ease of use for data collection, data management and analysis (Li et al., 2015). Disadvantages may include inadequate familiarity with the devices, security issues, and updates to device software (Alsaleh et al., 2017; Li et al., 2015). Before the interviews, I tested the Zoom recording function to certify that it is in good condition and working correctly. After the interview with each participant, I used the Otter.ai web application software to transcribe all recorded interviews.

I conducted a semistructured interview using an interview protocol. Researchers use the interview protocol to increase the quality of data obtained from interviewing participants (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). Interview protocol is a procedural guide that qualitative researchers use to direct the interview process (Akamatsu et al., 2016). Castillo-Montoya noted that using an interview protocol may help researchers extract meaningful information that describes participants' experiences. Qualitative researchers use the interview protocol as a typescript to follow during a research investigation (Cooper, 2016). I used an interview protocol (see Appendix A) to extract quality information from each participant by ensuring consistency, building trust, asking probing questions, and discussing the leadership strategies they use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

Most qualitative researchers use semistructured interviews to collect primary data from study participants. Yin (2014) noted that qualitative researchers use semistructured interviews to collect data that accentuates the participants' worldview and understanding of phenomena under study. Lin and Chen (2012) argued that semistructured interviews are the best data collection method to understand participants' thoughts, experiences, and apprehensions. Likewise, Wahyuni (2015) claimed that semistructured interviews are better-suited to address theme-based questions that may stimulate in-depth, open-ended answers. With semistructured interviews, the researcher could ask probing questions to gather rich, in-depth data (Aborisade, 2013; Cridland et al., 2015).

One disadvantage of using a semi-structured interview is that a researcher may influence the responses of the participants (Malagon-Maldonado, 2014). The researcher faces the dilemma of determining when best to probe or ask follow-up questions as an inexperienced researcher using a semistructured interview (Alshenqeeti, 2014). Another disadvantage of a semistructured interview as a technique for data collection is that it can be very time consuming and costly (McIntosh & Morse, 2015).

Yin (2017) stated that an advantage of documentation in the data collection includes the ability of the researcher to use methodological triangulation for crosschecking data gathered to reach data saturation. A common strategy that researchers use to validate data in qualitative research and to enhance trustworthiness is known as methodological triangulation (Hadi & Closs, 2016). A researcher can obtain a deeper understanding of the phenomenon under study by conducting documentation analysis (Carter et al., 2014).

Researchers build rapport during interviews via face-to-face interaction and establish a pleasant ambiance to increase participants response (Vogl, 2013). Therefore, I conducted semistructured interviews to build rapport with participants to obtain quality responses. To mask participants' identities, I assigned codes and labels to every participant. I implemented generic codes for each participant, such as P1001, P1002, P1003, 1004 and P1005, to maintain the anonymity of participants. After the interviews, I provided \$25 gift cards to participants as compensation for participating in the study.

Member checking is a high priority activity in the data collection process. Researchers implement member checking to verify accuracy, completeness, and validity (Harper & Cole, 2012; Houghton, Casey, et al., 2013; Yin, 2014). To ensure the credibility and confirmability of the data collection process, I used member checking and the methodological triangulation technique. In member checking, researchers share the interpretation of participants' responses with the participants to clarify and confirm accuracy with data collected during the interview (McGinley et al, 2021).

Upon analysis of each interview data, I shared the results with the participants via email to confirm within 3 days that my interpretations are consistent with their interview responses. I followed up with each participant f and received feedback on their satisfaction with my interpretations. All participants noted there were no changes needed to the interpretations. Birt et al. (2016) noted that researchers use member checking as a quality control mechanism to confirm the accuracy of participants' responses during the interview. Birt et al. proposed that researchers use member checking to detour the improper analysis of data and assure dependability. I implemented member checking by asking each participant to thoroughly verify and confirm the accuracy of my analysis and interpretation of responses of collected interview data. To reach data saturation, during each interview, I followed each open-ended interview with probing questions to explore detailed participants responses. During data analysis, I processed data repeatedly until no new data, themes or new coding emerged.

Another source of data collection is the use of a company's documents and records. The CEO of the rural hospital granted me access to use the organization's evaluation documents on patient and care team perspectives on telemedicine implementation in Critical Access Hospitals as the second source of data collection. Analysis of the provided company documents provided insight on the organization's use of education, training, collaboration physicians' role in successfully implementing telemedicine in the rural hospital. Researchers use data from company documents to corroborate data from interviews to increase rigor and bolster research findings (Fusch et al., 2018). Researchers use triangulation to improve the validity of interviews and archival records data (Fusch et al., 2017). Triangulating two sources of data enhances the clarity and efficacy of research results (Noble & Heale, 2019). I triangulated interview data and company documents by random checks of corroborative data, gaps, and biases from member-checking responses to ensure accuracy and quality of collected data.

#### **Data Organization Techniques**

At the end of the data collection phase, researchers proceed to organize data collected from interviewing participants. In case studies, qualitative researchers collect data from multiple sources of evidence, including documentation, interviews, observations, artifacts, and journals (Yin, 2018). I interviewed the participants to collect primary data and collect secondary data from company documents. The goal of qualitative data organization and analysis is to order, structure, and provide meaning to collected data. A data analysis software helps qualitative researchers to collate, consolidate, and analyze data collected from interviews, document reviews, and field notes into codes and themes (Georgiou et al., 2012). Theron (2015) noted that data analysis does not end with coding data; instead, researchers use coding to organize data to understand the underlying message of the data. I used NVivo Version 12 Pro to store, organize and analyze data, and identify meaningful themes. Researchers use the NVivo software for coding, data analysis, and visualization of data. NVivo software helps researchers organizing and evaluating data in easy and systematic ways to understand

participants' experience (Rogerson et al., 2016). The benefits of using NVivo is that it is easy to use, effective and efficient in transcribing, coding and retrieving data (Zamawe, 2015). To organize my files, I assigned labels to every folder such as P1001, P1002, P1003, 1004 and P1005.

Researchers read interview transcripts to ensure that the contents relate to the research question I ensured that the analyzed data conform to IRB requirements. I will save all electronic information on a password-protected external hard drive and stored all raw data in a drawer for a minimum of 5 years. After 5 years have elapsed, I will permanently delete all data stored in the external hard drive, including destroying the hard drive. I will use a paper shredder to destroy all copies of raw data.

#### **Data Analysis Technique**

Data analysis aims to evaluate and interpret data in research (Palinkas et al., 2013). With advances in information technology, researchers are finding new methods for data analysis. Data analysis occurs when a researcher gathers, examines, categorizes, and organizes data in themes and tests collected data (Yin, 2014). The task of organizing collected data is necessary to guarantee the accurate classification of materials, adequate recollection, and confidentiality of study participants (Kemparaj & Chavan, 2013). I commenced my data analysis by gathering, examining, categorizing, and organizing the data collected from the semistructured interviews with the study participants.

I began data analysis by following steps that would result in detailed data interpretation. Yin (2014) recommended four logical and sequential steps of data analysis. The steps include scanning through the entire data to identify meaningful patterns, reading the transcribed notes to get a general view of the data, coding and arranging the data into manageable themes, and interpreting the meaning. Therefore, I followed Yin's four steps in my data analysis process.

Because qualitative research is a continuum, a researcher should not wait to complete interviews before doing data analysis. I began analyzing data once I started interviewing participants. I used the NVivo Version 12 Pro software to store, organize and analyze data and identify meaningful themes. Researchers use the NVivo software for coding, data analysis, and visualization of data. NVivo software helps researchers organize and evaluate data in easy and systematic ways leading to improved understanding of participants' experience (Rogerson et al., 2016). After identifying the key themes using NVivo, I initiated the process of linking the topics to recent studies, the central research question, and the conceptual framework (TAM).

Triangulation strengthens research findings by validating multiple sources of evidence (Anney, 2014). One purpose of triangulation is to increase confidence in the results obtained during data analysis to enhance the validity of the research (Stefura, 2014). I used methodological triangulation which included comparing and collaborating my findings with the literature review, conceptual framework, my reflective journal, and secondary data so that researchers may be able to replicate the research.

By implementing member check sessions, which involved asking each participant to thoroughly verify and confirm the accuracy of my analysis and interpretation of collected interview data during the interview process, I validated the interpretation of participants' responses.. Stefura (2014) identified three standard approaches to triangulation: data source triangulation, methodological triangulation, and theory triangulation. Methodological triangulation involves implementing multiple methods to study a phenomenon (Bekhet & Zauszniewski, 2012; Campbell et al., 2020) by combining various techniques to gather data, such as company documents, interview data. I implemented methodological triangulation by combining analyzed interview data, company documents, and journal notes to gain multiple insights and perspectives on the strategies senior leaders used to implement telemedicine at the Midwestern rural hospital. With methodological triangulation, I confirmed findings, increased validity, and expanded the comprehension of the studied phenomena.

#### **Reliability and Validity**

Qualitative researchers differ in techniques for evaluating the quality and trustworthiness of research (Gunawan, 2015; Hadi, & José Closs, 2016; Koch et al., 2014). Bryman (2012) argued that researchers should not use reliability and validity to assess qualitative research. Based on Bryman's assertion, Lincoln and Guba (1985) offered an alternative criterion for validating the rigor and trustworthiness of qualitative research. Lincoln and Guba argued that researchers should ensure the reliability and validity of qualitative research by employing practices to increase the credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability of research findings. In this study, I demonstrated rigor by member checking data to establish reliability and validity of research findings. I demonstrated reliability and validity by triangulating collected data with my conceptual framework, literature review my reflective journal, and secondary data so that researchers may be able to replicate my findings.

Korstjens and Moser (2018) noted that the approaches of credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability are the quality benchmark of all qualitative research. Utilizing the credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability framework in qualitative studies may enable future researchers to replicate study findings and instill trust in qualitative research.

# Reliability

Reliability ensures the consistency, dependability, and replicability of research findings (Cypress, 2017; Zohrabi, 2013). Researchers acknowledge a study as reliable if the results are consistent, dependable, and replicable (Yin, 2014). In qualitative research, the researcher is liable for implementing procedures to confirm the reliability of the study finding (Dikko, 2016). With member checking, researchers return transcripts of interview data to individual participants to verify and confirm the accuracy of their responses (Harvey, 2015). Employing member checking helps the researcher gather enough data and reach data saturation (Leung, 2015). To accomplish reliability in my study, I followed the interview protocol strictly and conducted member checking to ensure the consistency and accuracy of data collected from participants.

**Dependability.** Dependability involves evaluating the stability and consistency of the research process and identifying changes that may affect research findings (Boesch et al., 2013). Dependability accounts for changes that happen in a context and how they influence the conduct of the research (Wahyuni, 2015). Dependability ensures the

reliability of data when applied in different contexts (Elo et al., 2014; Kallio et al., 2016).). Member checking involves participants' review of interpreted data to ensure the dependability of the study (Harvey, 2015). Researchers use member checking to prevent inaccuracies in the interpreted data and ensure the dependability of the study findings (Chang, 2014). I addressed dependability in this study by summarizing research findings and having participants review the summary to confirm the accuracy and reliability of the study.

# Validity

Validity refers to the accuracy and trustworthiness of research results (Seidman, 2012; Yardley, 2016). Researchers employ diverse methods in a qualitative research process to increase the validity of the study results. Researchers apply triangulation to confirm a study's validity (Cope, 2014; Yin, 2014). Methodological triangulation refers to adopting multiple methods to ensure rigor and accuracy of data (Anney, 2014). Many scholars agree that triangulation is a validity technique to ensure the accuracy of study results (Houghton, Murphy, et al., 2015). In this section, I discuss how I established the validity of this study using qualitative methods.

*Credibility.* Credibility refers to the extent to which a researcher assigns confidence to the result of research findings (Anney, 2014). Researchers implement credibility to establish whether research participants' information corresponds to research findings (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Credibility requires having detailed and meaningful descriptions, related concepts, and consistent findings (Boesch et al., 2013). Member checking involves validating the study findings to confirm credibility (Iivari, 2018; Smith & McGannon, 2017). Lincoln and Guba asserted that member checking is the most authentic approach qualitative researchers use to prove credibility. Researchers use member checking to increase credibility when the study findings are accurate, reliable, consistent, and replicable (Nowell et al., 2017; Tracy & Hinrichs, 2017). Using member checking, researchers seek participants' view on the accuracy of collected data, descriptions, and interpretations (Harvey, 2015). I implemented member checking by returning summary of interview to individual participants to verify and confirm accuracy to ensure credibility.

Researchers use triangulation to increase the credibility of research findings. triangulation is a validity technique to ensure the accuracy of study results (Houghton et al., 2015). I applied methodological triangulation by using sources that include interviews and company documents to strengthen the validity and amplify the comprehension of study findings.

*Transferability.* Transferability is the degree to which researchers' findings are applicable in other contexts. In transferability, only readers can determine if research findings will apply to their locale. Morse (2015) noted that with transferability, scholars could generalize study findings to other similar situations. Researchers achieve transferability when generated evidence and findings in one context apply in another. Researchers amplify transferability through thick descriptions and purposeful sampling (Anney, 2014). Researchers provide detailed descriptions of the study phenomenon and research method for readers to confirm the applicability of the study findings in their contexts (Boesch et al., 2013). To achieve transferability, I provided detailed descriptions

of the research phenomenon and research method to readers to assess if they would apply my study findings in their contexts.

*Confirmability.* Confirmability refers to research consumers' confirmation of study findings to reflect the research participants' perspectives rather than the researcher's subjective opinions and biases (Cope, 2014; Kallio et al., 2016; Wahyuni, 2015). Likewise, Kisely (2015) noted that confirmability to be the extent to other researchers substantiates the result of the study. To achieve confirmability, I documented data in the form of memos as part of my research workbook. A memo served as an audit trail providing introspection of the research process and results by outlining the progressive course of the research.

*Data saturation.* Data saturation refers to when new information is no longer attainable, and coding is no longer possible (Ness & Fusch, 2015). Many researchers acknowledge data saturation as a high principle in qualitative research. Inability to reach data saturation can affect the validity of a study. Data saturation occurs when additional interview data does not add new information, and no new data is necessary to replicate the study (Seargent, 2012; Saunders et al., 2017). To achieve data saturation in this study, I continued to interview participants until no new data and themes emerge from interviewees' responses. Reliability and validity point to the importance of considering the quality of qualitative research. By implementing strategies to establish confirmability, transferability, dependability, and credibility, I ensured rigor, trustworthiness, and validity of my research findings.

## **Transition and Summary**

In Section 2, I reaffirmed the purpose of the study, discussed my role as the researcher and participants of the study, presented the research method and design, and described the population and sampling strategies. Section 2 also included the data collection instruments and technique, data organization and data analysis techniques, ethical consideration in research, and the validity and reliability in research. In section 3, I provide a summary of the findings and presented the data from the study findings, including data from interviews, analysis of the interviews, and non-confidential hospital documents. I also discuss the application of the findings to professional practice and the implications for social change. Finally, I offer recommendations for action and future research, reflect and provide a summary and study conclusion.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

This section contains an overview of the study and presentation of the leadership strategies that some rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability in a Midwestern U.S. state. I used examples from the research participants to link the study findings with the conceptual framework involving TAM. Other topics discussed in this section include the application of the findings to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action and further study, reflections, and summary and study conclusions.

#### **Overview of Study**

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the leadership strategies that rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability in a Midwestern U.S. state. The conceptual framework was TAM, and the overarching research question was: What leadership strategies do rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability? Five health care administrators of a rural hospital in a Midwestern U.S. state who have successfully implemented telemedicine technology to improve profitability participated in this study. The participants provided me with the primary data to answer the overarching research question, and the source of secondary data include nonconfidential company documents. I achieved data saturation when no additional information emerged from the interview process and document review. Based on the participants' responses to the interview questions, I identified four themes: (a) training and education, (b) identification of stakeholders and collaboration, (c) physician leader role and coordination, and (d) transparency, information sharing, and communication. Within this study, I related TAM to the findings and provided a better understanding of the leadership strategies some rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. The study findings indicate that rural hospital leaders use various leadership strategies to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

# **Presentation of the Findings**

The overarching research question was: What leadership strategies do rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability? Health care in the rural US is becoming inaccessible, resulting in disastrous health care outcomes for rural residents and the massive closure of rural hospitals and providers (Holmes et al., 2019). Rural health care leaders lack the awareness to implement telemedicine for financial stability and profitability (Frakt, 2019; Murphy et al., 2018). Implementing telemedicine technology may solve the financial crisis in rural hospitals (RHIhub, 2019; Schadelbauer, 2017), help rural hospitals increase revenues, and improve the quality of care in rural communities (Dinesen et al., 2016). The four themes I identified in this study were: (a) training and education, (b) identification of stakeholders and collaboration, (c) physician leader role and coordination, and (d) transparency, information sharing, and communication. In the following subsections, I will present the four themes that emerged from the thematic analysis of the participants' responses to the interview questions and document review.

# **Theme 1: Training and Education**

Gurupur et al. (2016) demonstrated that patients were ready to use telemedicine but require more education and opportunity to use it. Companies that realize the importance of employees achieving organizational goals make every effort to invest in training development as long-term investments (Rusdiet al., 2015). The first theme to emerge from all the interview questions was the importance of training and education in implementing telemedicine technology for improved profitability in rural hospitals. The theme training and education emerged from Interview Questions 2, 4, 5, 7, and 8. All participants affirmed using training and education as a leadership strategy for implementing telemedicine for improved profitability in rural hospitals. In response to Interview Question 2, Participant 3 (P3) acknowledged the importance of developing a "solid education plan." Responding to Interview Question 4, P4 stated, "There is much training involved, obviously did not have many challenges with patients' acceptance."

Business leaders should use training to improve employee performance (Camisón & Villar-López, 2014; Durgin et al., 2014). In response to Interview Question 5, P1 said, "So, I would say, within a short amount of time, offering a variety of times that people could get trained." P1 further explained, "We did the training. Some of the training happened here at the hub site. … The training was in two steps." Responding to Interview Question 5, P5 attested, "Because they are the ones, at the front lines, and then there is patient education, being very transparent with patients asking them a question, do you feel comfortable." Thereby, "continually trying to bring our patients along with us."

explained P5. In response to Interview Question 7, P1 said, "And they ended up doing the training and working with each of their areas."

Business leaders can use training to improve employees' performance (Durgin et al., 2014; Rekalde et al., 2015). Responding to Interview Question 8, P2 posited, "So that means you're going to have some cross-training of hospitalists that are doing the telemedicine." In response to Interview Question 8, P5 remarked, "So, you are educating leaders, and then have a physician lead that believes in it, to help promote it." The participants' responses indicate that rural hospital leaders use training and education as a leadership strategy to implement telemedicine technology for improved profitability. The study findings demonstrated that rural hospital leaders use training and education to implement telemedicine technology for improved profitability. As applied in this study, 100% of the participants confirmed using training and education as a leadership strategy to implement telemedicine technology for improved profitability.

## **Theme 2: Identification of Stakeholders and Collaboration**

The strategy of involving various stakeholders significantly improves organizational performance (Eskerod & Larsen, 2018; Touzi et al., 2016). The second theme to emerge from all the interview questions was the identification of stakeholders and collaboration in implementing telemedicine to improve profitability in rural hospitals. The theme identification of stakeholders and collaboration emerged from Interview Questions 1–8. Four participants acknowledged using the identification of stakeholders and collaboration as a leadership strategy for implementing telemedicine for improved profitability in rural hospitals. In response to Interview Question 1, P1 said, "The strategy around there was collaborating with these six hospitals and making sure that we were meeting the needs of patients." Responding to Interview Question 1, P2 explained,

Because we had a cluster of hospitals, they are all connected by the same electronic medical record system, and they were being staffed by the same group of hospitalists during the day, we engaged with them to figure out what is the strategy we can deliver telemedicine on.... We had to engage with all the different stakeholders in terms of the nursing staff, the physicians, the clinic physicians because those are the persons who are taking care of their patients or their primary care physicians. We had to bring everyone together. So, it is that involvement to make sure that we had the right technology, we had the support.

The use of telemedicine technology can be a cost-effective strategy for collaborating with other health care facilities (American Hospital Association, 2019b; Schadelbauer, 2017). In response to Interview Question 1, P3 noted the need for rural hospital leaders to collaborate with key stakeholders and concluded, "So these were the things we shared with our staff to help them understand what it is. How does it work? Why it is a good thing?" Responding to Interview Question 1, P5 stated, "The ER staff can hand off mental health patient to a specialist professional to assess over telemedicine develop a work plan, a disposition plan, and actually a future care plan for that patient." P1 and P3 responses to Interview Question 2 attested that they understand the importance of collaboration in implementing telemedicine in rural hospitals. P1, who established use of collaboration, remarked, "The number one strategy used was collaboration and partnership. ... a lot of collaboration with the health department, six sites, the foundation and raising money, and then setting it up with schedulers and nursing staff and doctors." Responding to Interview Question 2, P3 attested, "We are working closely with our providers ... the strategy is identifying your stakeholders."

In response to Interview Question 3, P1 stated, "I would say the collaboration and partnership are the most successful because it allowed us to try something remote. However, definitely, that partnership, and the sites all appreciate it." Responding to Interview Question 3, P2 posited, "I think from a physician engagement standpoint, that drive to having very specific specialized positions where health care settings, emergency room, primary care clinic, inpatient medicine. So, I think that was a very successful strategy." In response to Interview Question 4, P1 stated, "We had two sites where we had space constraints, and we needed to work closely with them to figure out how to make it work. So, it ended up being a shared space." Responding to Interview Question 4, P2 posited, "We brought a hospitalist that covered a portion of the days ... make sure that we have got some of the workflows identified." In response to Interview Question 4, P5 remarked, "From a technical standpoint was if you want services from our tertiary, our specialists, and you need to use our technology to make it seamless, versus trying to interface two different technologies together."

Business managers should identify and meet stakeholders' requirements to improve the business success rate and performance (Eskerod & Larsen, 2018). Responding to Interview Question 5, P1 noted, "And the flexibility was more on our end because we were the hub site." In response to Interview Question 6, P2 stated, "Having a dedicated physician on site, and then a dedicated physician available at night, it just has increased our overall nursing engagement of care team engagement." Responding to Interview Question 7, P2 asserted, "And then overall engagement of our staff, we do surveys of our colleagues. Furthermore, we knew that this would help reduce turnovers and increase nursing engagement, overall staff engagement." In response to Interview Question 8, P2 explained, "It comes with a cost, they will get that cost which can be shared with multiple sites, you can partner or purchase that service from some national organizations." Explaining further, P2 said, "You can develop a model that is more sustainable because you have got partners, and you can design a model on the front end that can meet the needs that any of the sites have to navigate."

The participants' responses to all the interview questions demonstrated that identification of stakeholders and collaboration is an essential leadership strategy for implementing telemedicine to improve profitability in rural hospitals. Eighty percent of the rural hospital leaders who participated in this study confirmed using the identification of stakeholders and collaboration as a leadership strategy to implement telemedicine for improved profitability. As applied in this study, the participants' responses aligned with Eskerod and Larsen's (2018) and Touzi et al.'s (2016) assertions that business leaders use the identification of stakeholders and collaboration to improve organizational performance. P1 and P2 established that identifying stakeholders and collaboration played a crucial role in the successful implementation of telemedicine in rural hospitals.

## **Theme 3: Physician Leader Role and Coordination**

The theme involving physician leader role and coordination emerged from Interview Questions 1, 2, 4, 5, and 8. Four participants affirmed using physician leader role and coordination as leadership strategy to implement telemedicine for improved profitability. In response to Interview Question 1, P2 stated, "We were able to introduce the ER physicians to work dedicated in our ER." According to P2, "We had a physician leader that was a champion; he was heading the hospital medicine program at our large tertiary center. So, he is very passionate." Responding to Interview Question 2, P3 said, "When I look back at it, the fact that there was a kind of identified physician champion that people knew and trusted, that was leading the work." Elucidating on the significance of having a physician leader, P3 explained, "So that strategy had a good effect. However, you cannot overemphasize the importance of having a strong physician leader." P3 attested, "once we got it going, we did have our physician champion."

In response to Interview Question 2, P5 attested, "From my perspective, it is successful. The strategy is not driven by finance; it is driven by the physician leaders." Responding to Interview Question 4, P1 noted, "The challenge was coordinating and getting that done before they go live. Then it was the logistics of getting everybody trained and practicing."

In response to Interview Question 5, P1 posited, "And just really coordinating that, I think was the state." Responding to Interview Question 5, P5 explained, "For the physician leadership, you need a strong physician champion, whose heart and soul is in telemedicine and believes in it and believes in the future." P5 concluded, "And to me, that was the biggest ace in the hole from my regard is to make this successful." In response to Interview Question 8, P2 stated, "Our physician leaders understood that having an integrated campus and employed Medical Group, everyone understood the business model and what needed to happen." Responding to Interview Question 8, P3 said, "We developed that team; our nurses developed a high level of trust with telemedicine."

The participants responses indicate that rural hospital leaders use physician leader role and coordination to implement telemedicine technology for improved profitability. The study findings demonstrated that rural hospital leaders used the physician leader role and coordination as a leadership strategy to implement telemedicine technology for improved profitability. As applied in this study, 80% of the participants acknowledged using the physician leader role and coordination as a leadership strategy to implement telemedicine for improved profitability in rural hospitals.

## Theme 4: Transparency, Information Sharing, and Communication

Business leaders should use communication effectively to enhance organization performance (Ahmed, 2017). Managers should send clear, precise, and timely job instructions; engage in downward communication; and use multiple channels to communicate (Raina & Roebuck, 2016). The theme involving transparency, information sharing, and communication as a leadership strategy to implement telemedicine technology for improved profitability in rural hospitals emerged from Interview Questions 1–3, 5, 8. Three participants affirmed using transparency, information sharing, and communication as a leadership strategy for implementing telemedicine technology for improved profitability. In response to Interview Question 1, P1 attested, "That would be how I first heard about it, how we started using it in other parts of the campus. And then I started to think about how I could use it in the cancer center." Responding to Interview Question 1, P2 said, "I think the first one is just a level of transparency with the different stakeholders. ... I think being transparent as to why we were changing to improve operations and our clinic." P2 concluded, "The biggest strategy in terms of transparency and then involvement in designing the program." In response to Interview Question 1, P3 explained, "But they also told us that the experience was good. Moreover, they liked it. It did not take long for our staff to understand the huge benefits of telemedicine and how that complements what we are doing."

Leaders must always be open and honest with their team members on all occasions (Sani, 2013). Communication is vital to modern employees (Cassell, 2014). In response to Interview Question 2, P2 noted, "I talked about the transparency in terms of the why. ... I think very strategic communication, understanding, who are the people impacted whom we needed to win." Responding to Interview Question 2, P3 posited, "Having good communication with your stakeholders, keeping them up to speed. So that frequent communication." In response to Interview Question 3, P3 stated, "Communication played a big role in making it successful."

According to Michael (2014), business leaders use effective communication to improve employee performance. Responding to Interview Question 5, P1 affirmed, "A lot of communication. ... But it took much communication and stressing the importance and making it a priority." P1 concluded, "I would say that communication was huge." In response to Interview Question 8, P2 said, "I think it is the negotiation of bargaining upfront." Explaining further, participant P2 advised, "I think having those conversations upfront is a key strategy that can help drive the bottom line, profitability improvement because you are going to get some of those gains on your primary care side."

The participants' responses to the interview questions demonstrated that transparency, information sharing, and communication is an essential leadership strategy for implementing telemedicine technology to improve profitability in rural hospitals. Eighty percent of rural hospital administrators who participated in this study confirmed using transparency, information sharing, and communication as a leadership strategy to implement telemedicine technology for improved profitability. As applied in this study, the participants' responses aligned with Ahmed's (2017), Cassell's (2014), Michael's (2014), and Raina and Roebuck's (2016) assertions that business leaders use transparency, information sharing, and communication to improve organizational performance.

# **Findings Related to TAM**

Rural hospital leaders could improve profitability by using TAM to implement telemedicine technology. Researchers use TAM to explain users' behavior and intention to use technology (Marangunic & Granic, 2015). TAM could serve as a reliable framework for predicting technology acceptance in the health care ecosystem (Rho et al., 2014). Many researchers have used TAM to understand the acceptance and implementation of telemedicine technology by health care professionals (Saigi-Rubió et al., 2016). The technology within the organization regulates the environment, which influences the implementation of telemedicine technology for improved profitability in rural hospitals. The study findings indicate that rural hospital leaders could implement telemedicine technology for improved profitability by implementing leadership strategies based on TAM. As applied in this study, all the participants attested using a blend of leadership strategies to implement telemedicine technology for improved profitability in rural hospitals.

TAM has become the leading model for describing and predicting technology acceptance (Rho et al., 2014). Chen et al. (2017) explained that TAM is the most applied conceptual model for predicting usage intention and the actual use of technology. Dajani and Yaseen (2016) opined that one of the usefulness of TAM is researchers' ability to apply it in various technology ecosystems. According to Cilliers and Flowerday (2014), researchers use TAM to predict and justify factors that influence technology acceptance and usage. The aim of technology within an organization is for stakeholders, including employees, to accept technological innovations to improve profitability. As applied in this study, rural hospital administrators should establish leadership strategies for implementing telemedicine technology for improved profitability. All participants confirmed the TAM regarding the use of leadership strategies to implement telemedicine technology for improved profitability.

Many researchers have applied TAM in various settings (Martins et al., 2014). Hu et al. (1999) applied TAM in their study to examine physicians' acceptance of telemedicine in Hong Kong. Gurupur et al. (2016) applied TAM in their study to explore patients' perceptions relating to telemedicine acceptance. Saigi-Rubió et al. (2016) applied TAM2 in their binary logic analysis on 93 physicians. They demonstrated that physicians have favorable views of telemedicine and its potential to reduce costs and bring value to the health care ecosystem. Business leaders use TAM to implement technology within the organization. Previous research studies indicate that TAM is a practical framework that rural hospital administrators could use to align leadership strategies by implementing telemedicine technology to improve profitability. As applied in this study, all participants' responses validated the application of TAM regarding the use of leadership strategies to implement telemedicine technology for improved profitability in rural hospitals.

## **Applications to Professional Practice**

The identification of leadership strategies that rural hospital administrators use to implement telemedicine technology for improved profitability is crucial to enhancing business performance. By implementing telemedicine technology, hospital leaders may solve the financial crisis in rural hospitals (RHIhub, 2019; Schadelbauer, 2017), which could help rural hospitals increase revenues and improve the quality of care in rural communities (Dinesen et al., 2016). According to Kvedar et al. (2014), telemedicine technology is a cost-effective alternative to traditional health care delivery. The findings from this study could contribute to the literature on telemedicine technology in rural hospitals. The study findings may help rural hospital administrators, including governmental and non-governmental agencies, health care leaders, and health care providers, to gain valuable information on leadership strategies to implement telemedicine technology for improved profitability.

According to Murphy et al. (2018), rural hospitals lack the financial resources to provide specialized services in rural communities. The use of telemedicine technology may result in positive clinical outcomes and increased patient satisfaction (Glynn et al., 2020; Williams et al., 2018). The establishment of telemedicine practice in rural hospitals can reduce health care costs and solve the growing problem of rural hospital closures and shortage of health care providers (Jong et al., 2019; Radfar et al., 2017). This study's findings could provide rural health care leaders with knowledge on how to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. The findings from this study could contribute to the literature on leadership strategies in the health care sector. Contemporary and upcoming rural hospital leaders may use the study findings to understand better the leadership strategies for implementing telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

Health care leaders should seek sustainable solutions to improve profitability and provide affordable, accessible, and quality care to rural residents (Kaufman et al., 2015; McLean et al., 2013). Researchers have demonstrated that patient satisfaction increased the revenues for rural health care providers (Edoh et al., 2016). With decreased patient admissions and patient visits and the elimination of time and distance barriers to care, telemedicine service utilization may increase, generating incremental revenue for rural hospitals (Cichosz et al., 2016; O'Connor et al., 2016). Based on this study findings, the most significant contribution to professional practice may be identifying potential leadership strategies rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to

improve profitability. Health care leaders, including rural hospital providers, could use study's results to implement telemedicine technology for improved profitability.

The lack of primary care physicians could result in limited health services accessible to rural patients, decreased revenue, and the eventual closure of rural hospitals (Balasubramanian & Jones, 2016). Implementing telemedicine technology in rural hospitals may improve the quality of care, improve profitability, and reduce health care costs (Dinesen et al., 2016; Mehrotra et al., 2016). The results of the study could help health care leaders to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. The study findings could significantly contribute to information sharing among health care leaders seeking leadership strategies to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. Some health care leaders with weak leadership strategies may apply the findings of this study to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. The practical model could serve as the basis for implementing telemedicine technology to improve profitability in rural hospitals.

#### **Implications for Social Change**

People in rural communities have high mortality rates because of limited or no access to quality care (Caldwell et al., 2017). Using telemedicine to monitor rural patients could improve decision making in delivering care and improving patients' experiences (Kasckow et al., 2016). The study findings may contribute to positive social change by assisting rural hospital leaders in understanding the leadership strategies for implementing telemedicine technology to improve profitability and gain adequate knowledge to establish useful leadership model. The use of telemedicine technology translates to improved outcomes and cost-savings, and reduction in medical expenditure for the rural hospital (Schadelbauer, 2017). A potential social change outcome is that health care leaders might acquire leadership strategies to provide patients' access to specialty care and improve health care outcomes. As illustrated in this study, implementing telemedicine technology to improve profitability might help rural hospital leaders sustain their health care and continue providing job opportunities to the local community.

Establishing telemedicine practices may increase patients' access to the same quality of care and specialty services available in the urban and traditional health care locales, thereby curbing the growing shortage of health care providers in rural areas (Cooper, 2015). By implementing excellent leadership strategies, rural hospital leaders could implement telemedicine technology to provide critical health care services to people in rural areas for improved profitability. By enabling rural patients to receive care in a local rural health care setting, telemedicine may improve the relationship between rural hospital leaders and community citizens (Potter et al., 2016). As demonstrated in this study findings, adapting leadership strategies might help health care leaders implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability, thereby generating economic growth for local communities. With improved profitability, rural hospital employees could gain income to promote better welfare and wellbeing among their families. The general public might learn from the study findings the leadership strategies rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. According to Stephan et al. (2016), business leaders should integrate social change practice into their organizational performance. Business leaders use corporate social responsibility to address poverty and the lack of social amenities in the local communities (Raimi et al., 2015). This study's implications for a positive social change include that local communities might benefit from the rural hospital leaders' increased resources to address corporate social responsibilities. By implementing telemedicine technology, rural hospital leaders could improve profitability and fulfil their corporate social responsibilities to the residents by building schools and libraries, sponsorship of local events, and award scholarships. With improved profitability, rural hospital leaders will pay more corporate taxes, which municipal government could use to provide social amenities to the local citizens.

#### **Recommendations for Action**

Rural hospital leaders should adopt leadership strategies to implement telemedicine technology for improved profitability. Some researchers have proposed implementing telemedicine technology to improve rural hospital profitability (Mehrotra et al., 2016). Implementing telemedicine may drive the evolution of rural-based health care systems to provide regular and specialty care service (Kohler et al., 2019). The rapid evolution of telemedicine technology enables better patient access to health care and the reduction of health care costs (Delgoshaei et al., 2017). I recommend that rural hospital leaders should have adequate knowledge of leadership strategies to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. Training and education are valuable tool that business leaders use to improve organizational performance and profitability. Dantu and Mahapatra (2013) opined that institutional factors, including lack of training, negatively impact telemedicine adoption. Some negative barriers affecting telemedicine adoption are the arduous task of learning telemedicine usage (Driessen at al., 2018) and patients' level of education (Kruse et al., 2016b). Researchers have identified a lack of technical expertise in using telemedicine equipment as a significant barrier to implementing telemedicine services in rural communities (Wickramasinghe et al., 2016). I recommend that rural hospital leaders should use training and education as a leadership strategy for implementing telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

An effective leadership strategy is crucial for implementing telemedicine technology to improve profitability in rural hospitals. Rural health care leaders should leverage technology to provide regular and specialty services (Lum et al., 2020). Researchers have confirmed the cost-saving benefits of telemedicine technology (Diaz & Player, 2020; Mahar et al., 2018; Zholudev et al., 2018). A significant driver for implementing telemedicine services is to reduce costs for patients and health care providers (Diaz & Player, 2020). According to Saigi-Rubió et al. (2016), a vital driver of telemedicine technology implementation is the cost-saving benefits of using telemedicine in a physician practice. I recommend that rural hospital leaders should use a blend of effective leadership strategies to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. Some rural hospital leaders lack leadership strategies for implementing telemedicine technology to improve profitability. The study findings indicate that some rural hospital leaders use a blend of leadership strategies to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. I recommend that rural hospital leaders should have adequate skills, experience, education, and training to adopt appropriate leadership strategies for implementing telemedicine technology to improve profitability. I will disseminate the result of this study to interested stakeholders through the presentation in literature seminars, conferences, and training; publications in business and academic journals; and sharing knowledge in my network, workplace, and social media.

## **Recommendations for Further Study**

This qualitative single case study explored the leadership strategies that rural hospital administrators use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. Implementing telemedicine technology may increase access to quality medical care for rural populations (Robb et al., 2019). The study findings provided rich information that future researchers could explore regarding the leadership strategies rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. A significant limitation of this study was the small sample size of five health care administrators from a rural hospital in one Midwestern U.S. state. Researchers who use larger or smaller sample size from multiple rural hospitals may obtain different themes. Therefore, I recommend that future researchers consider using a larger size of participants from different management levels in various rural hospitals.

Rural hospital leaders are concerned with financial challenges and interested in finding lasting solutions to stem rural hospital closures (Hall & Owings, 2014; Holmes et al., 2019). Some researchers have proposed implementing telemedicine technology to improve rural hospital profitability (Mehrotra et al., 2016; Schadelbauer, 2017). This study was limited to a cross-sectional, qualitative single case study involving health care administrators in a rural hospital in one Midwestern U.S. state. I recommend that further studies involve longitudinal, qualitative multiple case study, quantitative or mixed methods on participants selected from varying levels of management in different rural hospitals at various geographical locations.

The study was limited to my professional experience in health care and personal beliefs with the topic involving the leadership strategies health care leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability in rural hospitals. Future researchers should comprise of experts from related multi-disciplines in leadership and technology adoption to divulge some details I must have omitted in this doctoral study.

## Reflections

In this qualitative single case study, I explored the leadership strategies health care leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability in rural hospitals. To comply with research ethics, I attended NIH training, and obtained IRR approval before engaging with the participants, which offered me the opportunity to better understand the requirements for using human beings in academic research study. I used emails and telephone calls to contact the participants, which improved my collaboration, inspiration, and negotiation skills. In conducting this study, I used purposive sampling technique to select five health care administrators of a rural hospital in a Midwestern U.S. state, who have over 5 years of experience in leadership position and have successfully implemented telemedicine technology to improve profitability. Using the purposive sampling technique, I selected participants who had the relevant skills, experience, knowledge, and competence to answer the research question. During the purposive sampling process, I interacted with the participants, improving my listening, communication, networking, emotional intelligence, inspirational, and interpersonal skills.

The qualitative research method enabled me to conduct semistructured interviews and met with the participants, which improved my communication, problem-solving, listening, and self-confident skills. Interviewing the participants at their preferred time and on the phone enabled the respondents to express themselves freely, which allowed me to gain an in-depth knowledge of the research problem. By organizing and analyzing the data, I understood the research problem, which enabled me to identify the themes and patterns and establish the study findings. Reflecting on my experience within the doctoral study process, I gained a better understanding of the doctoral study research process, thereby improving my academic research skills.

From the study findings, I gained an in-depth knowledge of the research problem from five health care administrators of a rural hospital in a Midwestern U.S. state regarding their use of leadership strategies to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. I learned that health care administrators use a blend of leadership strategies involving training and education; identification of stakeholders and
collaboration; physician leader role and coordination; and transparency, information sharing, and communication to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability. My new understanding and knowledge of the research problem positively changed my beliefs, preconceived ideas and values, and personal bias and perceptions of leadership strategies health care administrators use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability in rural hospitals.

## **Summary and Study Conclusions**

Health care leaders face challenges in using effective leadership strategies to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability in rural hospitals. In this qualitative single case study, I used TAM to explore the leadership strategies that health care administrators use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability in rural hospitals. I administered eight open-ended questions through semistructured interviews with five health care administrators from a rural hospital in a Midwestern U.S. state to collect the primary data to answer the research question. The sources of secondary data include company documents. The four themes that emerged from the thematic analysis of data were (a) training and education (b) identification of stakeholders and collaboration, (c) physician leader role and coordination, and (d) transparency, information sharing, and communication. The study findings indicated that health care leaders used a blend of leadership strategies to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability in rural hospitals.

Adapting leadership strategies might help health care leaders implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability, which may sustain the health care, thereby generating economic growth for local communities. With improved profitability, health care leaders will pay more corporate taxes, which municipal government could use to provide social amenities to the local citizens. Also, improving profitability might help health care leaders to sustain their health care and continue providing job opportunities and quality health care services to the residents. People in the society might learn from the study findings the leadership strategies health care leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability in rural hospitals. The use of TAM as a lens for this study involving rural hospital administrators may fill a gap in the literature on implementation of telemedicine technology to improve profitability in rural hospitals. The study findings align with previous scholars' conclusions regarding the need to implement effective leadership strategies to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

## References

Aarons, G.A. & Sommerfeld, D.H. (2012). Leadership, innovation climate, and attitudes toward evidence-based practice during a statewide implementation. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *51*, 423–31.
 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2012.01.018">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2012.01.018</a>

Aarons, G. A., Ehrhart, M. G., Farahnak, L. R. (2014). The Implementation Leadership Scale (ILS): Development of a brief measure of unit level implementation leadership. *Implementation Science*, 9, 45.

https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-9 45

- Abdalla, M. M., Oliveira, L. G. L., Azevedo, C. E. F., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: Types of triangulation as a methodological alternative. *Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa*, 19(1), 66–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578</u>
- Aborisade, O. P. (2013). Data collection and new technology. International Journal of. Emerging Technology Learning, 8(2), 48–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v8i2.2157</u>
- Adler-Milstein, J., Kvedar, J., & Bates, D. W. (2014). Telehealth among US hospitals: Several factors, including state reimbursement and licensure policies, influence adoption. *Health Affairs*, 33(2), 207–215.

https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2013.1054

- Ahlan, A. R., & Ahmad, B. I. (2014). User acceptance of health information technology (HIT) in developing countries: A conceptual model. *Procedia Technology*, 16, 1287–1296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.protcy.2014.10.145
- Ahmed, R. (2017). Significance of communication and project management processes in public sector projects. *Paper presented at the 33rd International Academic Conference, Vienna*. 33–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.20472/IAC.2017.33.002</u>
- Ajzen, I. (2011). The theory of planned behavior: Reactions and reflections. Psychology & Health, 26, 1113–1127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08870446.2011.613995</u>
- Akamatsu, R., Kawasaki, Y., & Kojima, Y. (2016). Barriers to accurately measuring patient's dietary intake in hospitals using the visual estimation method: A qualitative research. *International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance, 29,* 835845. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJHCQA-04-2016-0042</u>
- Alsaleh, M., Alomar, N., & Alarifi, A. (2017). Smartphone users: Understanding how security mechanisms are perceived and new persuasive methods. *PloS one, 12*(3), 135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0173284</u>
- Alshenqeeti, H. (2014). Interviewing as a data collection method: A critical review. English linguistics research, 3(1), 3945. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5430/elr.v3n1p39</u>
- American Hospital Association. (2019a). Rural Report 2019. Challenges facing rural communities and the roadmap to ensure local access to high-quality, affordable care. <u>https://www.aha.org/guidesreports/2019-02-04-rural-report-2019</u>

American Hospital Association. (2019b). Telehealth: Helping hospitals deliver costeffective care.

https://www.aha.org/system/files/content/16/16telehealthissuebrief.pdf

American Hospital Association. (2019c). AAMC updates physician shortage projections. <u>https://www.aha.org/news/headline/2019-04-25-aamc-updates-physician-</u> <u>shortage-projections</u>

American Hospital Association. (2018). Fast facts on US hospitals.

https://www.aha.org/statistics/fast-facts-us-hospitals

American Hospital Association. (2016). 1999-2015 AHA annual survey.

https://www.healthforum.com/

American Telemedicine Association. (2015). The promise of telehealth for hospitals, health systems and their communities.

https://www.aha.org/research/reports/tw/15jan-tw-telehealth.pdf

 Anney, V. N. (2014). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research: Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies (JETERAPS)* 5(2), 272–281. <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/1419/f7b54e6b7f1215717a5056e0709f8946745b.</u> <u>pdf</u>

Annik, A. (2017). Using the research journal during qualitative data collection in a cross-cultural context. *Entrepreneurship Research Journal*, 7(1), 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/erj-2015-0063</u> Ashraf, A. R., Thongpapanl, N., & Auh, S. (2014). The Application of the technology acceptance model under different cultural contexts: The case of online shopping adoption. *Journal of International Marketing*, 22, 68–93. https://doi.org/10.1509/jim.14.0065

Asiamah, N., Mensah, H. K., & Oteng-Abayie, E. (2017). General, target, and accessible population: Demystifying the concepts for effective sampling. *The Qualitative Report*, 22, 1607–1621. <u>https://www.nsuworks.nova.edu/tq</u>

Bailey, C. A. (2018). A guide to qualitative field research (3rd ed.). Sage.

- Balasubramanian, S. S., & Jones, E. C. (2016). Hospital closures and the current health care climate: The future of rural hospitals in the USA. *Rural and Remote Health*, 16, 3935–3940. <u>https://www.rrh.org.au/journal/article/3935</u>
- Bannow, T. (2018). Hospitals or hybrid clinics? Report looks at what best serves rural areas. *Modern Health care*, *48*(4), 0014–0014. <u>https://www.modernhealth</u> <u>care.com</u>
- Bansal. P, & DesJardine, M.R. (2014). Business sustainability: It is about time. *Strategic Organization*, 12(1), 70–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1476127013520265</u>
- Bashshur, R. L., Shannon, G. W., Bashshur, N., & Yellowlees, P. M. (2016). The empirical evidence for telemedicine interventions in mental disorders.
   *Telemedicine and e-Health*, 22(2), 87–113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2015.0206</u>
- Bekhet, A. K., & Zauszniewski, J. A. (2012). Methodological triangulation: An approach to understanding data. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(2), 40–43. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2012.11.20.2.40.c9442

Beldad, A. D., & Hegner, S. M. (2017). Expanding the technology acceptance model with the inclusion of trust, social influence, and health valuation to determine the predictors of German users' willingness to continue using a fitness app: A structural equation modeling approach. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, *34*(9), 882–893.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2017.1403220

- Benoot, C., Hannes, K., & Bilsen, J. (2016). The use of purposeful sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example on sexual adjustment to a cancer trajectory. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 16(1), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-016-0114-6</u>
- Berg, A. V. D., Witteloostuijn, A. V., & Brempt, O. V. D. (2017). Employee workplace representation in Belgium: Effects on firm performance. *International Journal of Manpower*, 38, 130–144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJM-06-2015-0094</u>
- Bezboruah, K., Paulson, D., & Smith, J. (2014). Management attitudes and technology adoption in long-term care facilities. *Journal of Health Organization and Management*, 28(3), 344–365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jhom-11-2011-0118</u>
- Bice-Urbach, B. J., & Kratochwill, T. R. (2016). Teleconsultation: The use of technology to improve evidence-based practices in rural communities. *Journal of School Psychology*, 56, 27–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2016.02.001</u>
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking a tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316654870</u>

- Blomme, R. J., Kodden, B., & Beasley-Suffolk, A. (2015). Leadership theories and the concept of work engagement: Creating a conceptual framework for management implications and research. *Journal of Management & Organization, 21*(2), 125– 144. https://doi.org/10.1017/JMO.2014.71
- Boesch, I., Schwaninger, M., Weber, M., & Scholz, R. W. (2013). Enhancing validity and reliability through feedback-driven exploration: A study in the context of conjoint analysis. *Syst Pract Action Res*, 26(3), 217–238.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11213-012-9248-6

Bolin, J. N., Bellamy, G. R., Ferdinand, A. O., Vuong, A. M., Kash, B. A., Schulze, A., & Helduser, J. W. (2015). Rural healthy people 2020: New decade, same challenges. *The Journal of Rural Health*, *31*(3), 326–333. https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12116

Bowden, C., & Galindo-Gonzalez, S. (2015). Interviewing when you're not face-to-face: The use of email interviews in a phenomenological study. *International Journal* 

of Doctoral Studies, 10, 79-92. https://www.informingscience.org/Journals/

Brandon, I. (2019). Save rural health care: Time for a significant paradigm shift. The Journal of the American Osteopathic Association, 119, 551–555. https://doi.org/10.7556/jaoa2019.098

Bromley, E., Mikesell, L., Jones, F., & Khodyakov, D. (2015). From subject to participant: Ethics and the evolving role of community in health research. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105, 900–908.
https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2014.302403

Brooks, E., Turvey, C., & Augusterfer, E. F. (2013). Provider barriers to Telemental health: Obstacles overcome, obstacles remaining. *Telemedicine Journal And E-Health: The Official Journal of The American Telemedicine Association*, 19(6), 433–437. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2013.0068

Bryman, A. (2012). Social Research methods. Oxford University Press.

- Bujnowska-Fedak, M., & Grata-Borkowska, U. (2015). Use of telemedicine-based care for the aging and elderly: Promises and pitfalls. *Smart Homecare Technology and TeleHealth*, 3, 91–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/shtt.s59498</u>
- Caldwell, J. T., Ford, C. L., Wallace, S. P., Wang, M. C., & Takahashi, L. M. (2017).
   Racial and ethnic residential segregation and access to health care in rural areas.
   *Health & Place*, 43, 104–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2016.11.015</u>
- Camisón, C., & Villar-López, A. (2014). Organizational innovation as an enabler of technological innovation capabilities and firm performance. *Journal of Business Research*, 67, 2891–2902. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.2307/256865</u>
- Campbell, R., Goodman-Williams, R., Feeney, H., & Fehler-Cabral, G. (2020). Assessing triangulation across methodologies, methods, and stakeholder groups: The joys, woes, and politics of interpreting convergent and divergent data. *American Journal of Evaluation*, 41(1), 125–144.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1098214018804195

Canfield, C., & Galvin, S. (2018). Bedside nurse acceptance of intensive care unit telemedicine presence. *Critical Care Nurse*, 38(6), e1–e4. https://doi.org/10.4037/ccn2018926

- Carleton, P. R., & Porter, J. D. (2018). A comparative analysis of the challenges in measuring transit equity: Definitions, interpretations, and limitations. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 72, 64–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2018.08.012</u>
- Carter, B. (2014). Technology adoption in health care: International barriers and opportunities to telemedicine. *Journal of Child Health Care*, 18(4), 299–301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1367493514561844</u>
- Carter, S. M., & Greer, C. R. (2013). Strategic leadership: Values, styles, and organizational performance. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies, 20*, 379–393. doi:10.1177/1548051812471724. https://doi.org/doi/10.1177/1548051812471724
- Carter, L. M., Salyers, V., Myers, S., Hipfner, C., Hoffart, C., MacLean, C., ... & Barrett,
  P. (2014). Qualitative insights from a Canadian multi-institutional research study:
  In search of meaningful e-learning. *Canadian Journal for the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, 5(1), 1–17. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5206/cjsotl-</u>
  <u>rcacea.2014.1.10</u>
- Cassell, M. C. (2014). Organizational commitment and voluntary turnover of IT employees during an economic downturn. (Doctoral dissertation). ProQuest
   Digital Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3610623)
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 10, 807–815. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019</u>

Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report*, *21*(5), 811–831.

https://nsuworks.nova.edu

Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS). (2019). Rural Health.

https://www.cms.gov/About-CMS/Agency-Information/OMH/equityinitiatives/rural-health/index

Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS). (2015). *National health expenditure* projections, 2016–2025. <u>https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-</u> Systems/Statistics-Trends-

andReports/NationalHealthExpendData/Downloads/proj2016.pdf

- Chandwani, R. K., & Dwivedi, Y. K. (2015). Telemedicine in India: current state, challenges and opportunities. *Transforming Government: People, Process and Policy*, 9(4), 393–400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/tg-07-2015-0029</u>
- Chang, D. F. (2014). Increasing the trustworthiness of qualitative research with member checking. *PsycEXTRA Dataset*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/e530492014-001</u>
- Charness, N., & Boot, W. R. (2016). Technology, gaming, and social networking. Handbook of the Psychology of Aging, 389–407. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-411469-2.00020-0</u>
- Chen, E. K., Riffin, C., Reid, M. C., Adelman, R., Warmington, M., Mehta, S. S., &Pillemer, K. (2014). Why is high-quality research on palliative care so hard to do?Barriers to improved research from a survey of palliative care researchers.

Journal of Palliative Medicine, 17(7), 782–787.

https://doi.org/10.1089/jpm.2013.0589

- Chen, E. T. (2017). Considerations of telemedicine in the delivery of modern health care. *American Journal of Management*, 17(3), 1–9. <u>https://articlegateway.com/index.php/AJM/index</u>
- Chen, H., Rong, W., Ma, X., Qu, Y., & Xiong, Z. (2017). An extended technology acceptance model for mobile social gaming service popularity analysis. *Mobile Information Systems*, 2017, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/3906953</u>
- Chesser, S., Porter, M. M., & Tuckett, A. G. (2019). Cultivating citizen science for all: ethical considerations for research projects involving diverse and marginalized populations. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2019.1704355</u>
- Chilisa, B., & Tsheko, G. N. (2014). Mixed methods in indigenous research: Building relationships for sustainable intervention outcomes. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 8, 222–233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689814527878</u>
- Chu, C., Cram, P., Pang, A., Stamenova, V., Tadrous, M., Bhatia, R.S. (2021). Rural telemedicine use before and during the COVID-19 pandemic: Repeated cross-sectional study. Journal of Med Internet Research, 23(4), 1–2. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/26960</u>
- Cichosz, S. L., Ehlers, L. H., & Hejlesen, O. (2016). Health and cost-effectiveness of telehealth care for heart failure: Study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials*, 17, 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-016-1722-5</u>

Cilliers, L., & Flowerday, S. (2014). User acceptance of telemedicine by health care workers: A case of the Eastern Cape Province, South Africa. *The Electronic Journal of Information Systems in Developing Countries*, 65(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1681-4835.2014.tb00467.x

Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Data collection and sampling in qualitative research: Does size matter? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 473–475. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12163</u>

- Colglazier, E., & Brown, A. (2021). PH professional network: The benefits and challenges in delivering telehealth in pediatric pulmonary hypertension. *Advances in Pulmonary Hypertension*, 20(1), 22–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.21693/1933-088X-20.1.22</u>
- Cooper, I. A. (2016). The first 4 Years: A small business sustainability study (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10159893)
- Cooper, S. B. (2015). Opinion leaders' perspective of the benefits and barriers in telemedicine: A grounded theory study of telehealth in the Midwest. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, (1), 25–53. <u>https://www.infoagepub.com/qrdeissue.html?i=p55a91d1f68ed3</u>

Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. Oncology Nursing Forum, 41(1), 89–91. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.onf.89-91 Corbin, J., & Strauss, A. (2015). *Basics of qualitative research: Techniques and procedures for developing a grounded theory* (4th ed.). Sage Publications.

- Crandall, P. G., O'Bryan, C. A., Grinstead, D. A., Das, K., Rose, C., & Shabatura, J. J. (2016). Role of ethnographic research for assessing behavior of employees during cleaning and sanitation in food preparation areas. *Food Control*, 59, 849–853. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2015.07.008</u>
- Cridland, E. K., Jones, S. C., Caputi, P., & Magee, C. A. (2015). Qualitative research with families living with autism spectrum disorder: Recommendations for conducting semistructured interviews. *Journal of Intellectual & Developmental Disability*, 40(1), 78–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/13668250.2014.964191</u>
- Cunliffe, A. L., & Karunanayake, G. (2013). Working within hyphen-spaces in ethnographic research: Implications for research identities and practice. *Organizational Research Methods*, 16, 364–392. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428113489353</u>

Cypress, B. S. (2017). Rigor or reliability and validity in qualitative research. *Dimensions* of Critical Care Nursing, 36(4), 253–263.

https://doi.org/10.1097/dcc.00000000000253

Dajani, D., & Yaseen, S. G. (2016). The applicability of technology acceptance models in the Arab business setting. *Journal of Business and Retail Management Research*, 10(3), 46–56. <u>http://jbrmr.com/admin/content/pdf/i-24\_c-228.pdf</u>

Damianakis, T., & Woodford, M. R. (2012). Qualitative research with small connected communities generating new knowledge while upholding research

ethics. *Qualitative Health Research*, *22*, 708–718. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732311431444

- Dantu, R., & Mahapatra, R. (2013). Adoption of telemedicine: Challenges, and opportunities. Proceedings of the Nineteenth Americas Conference on Information Systems. Chicago, IL.
- Davis, F. D. (1989). Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. *MIS Quarterly*, 13(3), 318–319. https://doi.org/10.2307/249008
- Deasy, D. (2018). IT dashboard. *GAO Reports*, 1–73. <u>https://itdashboard.gov/drupal/summary/007</u>
- DeFelice, D., & Janesick, V. J. (2015). Understanding the marriage of technology and phenomenological research: From design to analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1576–1593. <u>https://tqr.nova.edu</u>
- De la Torre-Díez, I., López-Coronado, M., Vaca, C., Aguado, J. S., & de Castro, C.
  (2015). Cost-utility and cost-effectiveness studies of telemedicine, electronic, and mobile health systems in the literature: A systematic review. *Telemedicine and e-Health*, 21(2), 81–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2014.0053</u>

Delgoshaei, B., Mobinizadeh, M., Mojdekar, R., Afzal, E., Arabloo, J., & Mohamadi, E. (2017). Telemedicine: A systematic review of economic evaluations. *Medical journal of the Islamic Republic of Iran*, 31, 113–121.
<a href="https://doi.org/10.14196/mjiri.31.113">https://doi.org/10.14196/mjiri.31.113</a>

- Diaz, V. A., & Player, M. S. (2020). Direct-to-Patient Telehealth: Opportunities and Challenges. *Rhode Island Medical Journal*, 103(1), 35–37. <u>http://www.rimed.org</u>
- Dikko, M. (2016). Establishing construct validity and reliability: Pilot testing of a qualitative interview for research in Takaful (Islamic insurance). *The Qualitative Report*, 21(3), 521–528. <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss3/6/</u>
- Dillard, J., & Layzell, D. (2014). An ongoing journey of corporate social responsibility. *Accounting Forum, 38*, 212–226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.accfor.2014.04.001</u>
- Dinesen, B., Nonnecke, B., Lindeman, D., Toft, E., Kidholm, K., Jethwani, K., Young,
  H. M., Spindler, H., Oestergaard, C. U., Southard, J.A., Gutierrez, M., Anderson,
  N., Albert, N. M., Han, J. J., & Nesbitt, T. (2016). Personalized telehealth in the
  future: A global research agenda. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *18*(3),
  e53, 1–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.5257</u>
- Dorsey, E. R., & Topol, E. J. (2016). State of telehealth. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 375(2), 154–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1601705</u>
- Dos Reis, R. A., & Freitas, M. D. C. D. (2014). Critical factors on information technology acceptance and use: An analysis on small and medium Brazilian clothing industries. *Procedia Computer Science*, 31, 105–114. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2014.05.250</u>
- Douglas, M. D., Xu, J., Heggs, A., Wrenn, G., Mack, D. H., & Rust, G. (2017). Assessing telemedicine utilization by using Medicaid claims data. *Psychiatric Services*, 68(2), 173–178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201500518</u>

- Driessen, J., Castle, N. G., & Handler, S. M. (2018). Perceived benefits, barriers, and drivers of telemedicine from the perspective of skilled nursing facility administrative staff stakeholders. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 37(1), 110– 120. https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464816651884
- Drouin, M., Stewart, J., & Van Gorder, K. (2015). Using methodological triangulation to examine the effectiveness of a mentoring program for online instructors. *Distance Education*, 36(3), 400–418. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2015.1081735</u>
- Durgin, A., Mahoney, A., Cox, C., Weetjens, B. J., & Poling, A. (2014). Using task clarification and feedback training to improve staff performance in an East African nongovernmental organization. *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*, 34, 122–143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01608061.2014.914007</u>
- Dwivedi, Y. K., Rana, N. P., Jeyaraj, A., Clement, M., & Williams, M. D. (2017). Re-examining the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT): Towards a revised theoretical model. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 21(3), 719–734. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10796-017-9774-y</u>
- Edoh, T. O., Kora, A. D., Pawar, P., Coulibaly, G. C., & Alahassa, B. R. (2016).
  Predicting telemedicine system user satisfaction in sub-Saharan Africa. *ICT Express*, 2(4), 163–167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.icte.2016.10.006</u>
- Ehrhart, M. G., Aarons, G. A., Farahnak, L. R. (2014). Assessing the organizational context for EBP implementation: The development and validity testing of the Implementation Climate Scale (ICS). *Implementation Science*, *9*, 157. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-014-0157-1

- Elo, S., Kaariainen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).
  Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. SAGE Open, 4(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014522633
- Eskerod, P., & Larsen, T. (2018). Advancing project stakeholder analysis by the concept 'shadows of the context'. *International Journal of Project Management*, *36*, 161– 169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.05.003</u>
- Etikan, I. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Eze, N. U., Obichukwu, P. U., & Kesharwani, S. (2021). Perceived Usefulness, Perceived
  Ease of Use in ICT Support and Use for Teachers. *IETE Journal of Education*, 1–
  9. https://doi.org/10.1080/09747338.2021.1908177
- Fatehi, M., Safdari, R., Ghazisaeidi, M., Jebraeily, M., & Habibikoolaee, M. (2015). Data standards in tele-radiology. *Acta Informatica Medica*, 23(3), 165–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.5455/aim.2015.23.165-168</u>
- Fossaluza, V., Izbicki, R., da Silva, G. M., & Esteves, L. G. (2017). Coherent hypothesis testing. *American Statistician*, 71(3), 242–248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00031305.2016.1237893</u>
- Fowler, F. J. (2014). Survey research methods (5th Ed.). Sage
- Frakt, A. B. (2019). The rural hospital problem. Journal of American Medical Association (JAMA), 321(23), 2271–2272. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.7377

- Franceschinis, C., Thiene, M., Scarpa, R., Rose, J., Moretto, M., & Cavalli, R. (2017). Adoption of renewable heating systems: An empirical test of the diffusion of innovation theory. *Energy*, 125, 313–326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2017.02.060</u>
- Fusch, P., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2018). Denzin's paradigm shift: Revisiting triangulation in qualitative research. *Journal of Social Change*, 10(1), 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.5590/JOSC.2018.10.1.02</u>
- Fusch, P. I., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2017). How to conduct a mini-ethnographic case study: A guide for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 22, 923–941. <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol22/iss3/16</u>
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408–1416. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss9/3
- Garcia, B., Welford, J., & Smith, B. (2016). Using a smartphone app in qualitative research: The good, the bad, and the ugly. *Qualitative Research*, 16, 508–525. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794115593335</u>
- Gaya, H. J., & Smith, E. E. (2016). Developing a qualitative single case study in the strategic management realm: An appropriate research design. *International Journal of Business Management and Economic Research*, 7(2), 529–538. <u>https://www.ijbmer.com</u>

Gentles, S. J., Charles, C., Ploeg, J., & McKibbon, K. (2015). Sampling in qualitative research: Insights from an overview of the methods literature. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1772–1789. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss11/5

Georgiou, A., Westbrook, J. I., & Braithwaite, J. (2012). An empirically derived approach for investigating health information technology: The elementally entangled organizational communication (EEOC) framework. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, *12*(1), 12–68. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6947-12-68

- Germack, H. D., Kandrack, R., & Martsolf, G. R. (2019). When rural hospitals close, the physician workforce goes. *Health Affairs*, 38(12), 2086–2094. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2019.00916
- Giraldi, D. M., Garcia, E., Kundu, I., & Famitangco, R. F. (2018). Disparities in rural health care: A look at the field of laboratory medicine. *Critical Values*, 11(4), 40–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/crival/vay035</u>
- Glynn, L. H., Chen, J. A., Dawson, T. C., Gelman, H., & Zeliadt, S. B. (2020). Bringing chronic-pain care to rural veterans: A telehealth pilot program description. *Psychological Services*, 1–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000408</u>

Grant, L. A., Rockwood, T., & Stennes, L. (2015). Client satisfaction with telehealth in assisted living and homecare. *Telemedicine Journal And E-Health: The Official Journal of The American Telemedicine Association*, 21, 987–991. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2014.0218</u>

Griensven, H. V., Moore, A. P., & Hall, V. (2014). Mixed methods research: The best of

both worlds? Manual Therapy, 19, 367–371.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2014.05.005

Grossoehme, D. H. (2014). Overview of qualitative research. *Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy*, 20, 109–122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08854726.2014.925660</u>

Guest, G., Namey, E., Taylor, J., Eley, N., & McKenna, K. (2017). Comparing focus groups and individual interviews: Findings from a randomized study.
 *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20(6), 693–708.
 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2017.1281601">https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2017.1281601</a>

- Guetterman, T. C. (2015). Descriptions of sampling practices within five approaches to qualitative research in education and the health sciences. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, *16*(2), 1–25. <u>https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/edpsychpapers/263</u>
- Guetterman, T. C., & Fetters, M. D. (2018). Two methodological approaches to the integration of mixed methods and case study designs: A systematic review. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 62, 900–918.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764218772641

Gunawan, J. (2015). Ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Belitung Nursing Journal*, *I*(1), 10–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.33546/bnj.4</u>

Gupta, M. (2018). Strategic leadership: An effective tool for sustainable growth, *SIBM Pune Research Journal,* XV, 00–00.

http://samvad.sibmpune.edu.in/index.php/samvad/article/view/115347

Gurupur, V., Shettian, K., Xu, P., Hines, S., Desselles, M., Dhawan, M., Th Wan, T., Raffenaud, A., & Anderson, L. (2016). Identifying the readiness of patients in implementing telemedicine in northern Louisiana for an oncology practice. *Health Informatics Journal*, 23(3), 181–196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1460458216639740</u>

Gustafsson, J., (2017). Single case studies vs. multiple case studies: A comparative study. <u>https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1064378/FULLTEXT01.pdf</u>

Hadi, M. A., & José Closs, S. (2016). Ensuring rigor and trustworthiness of qualitative research in clinical pharmacy. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 38, 641–646. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s1109601502376</u>

- Hadidi, N., Lindquist, R., Treat-Jacobson, D., & Swanson, P. (2013). Participant withdrawal: Challenges and practical solutions for recruitment and retention in clinical trials. *Creative Nursing*, 19, 37–41.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1891/1078-4535.19.1.37">https://doi.org/10.1891/1078-4535.19.1.37</a>
- Haegele, J. A., & Hodge, S. R. (2015). Quantitative methodology: A guide for emerging physical education and adapted physical education researchers. *Physical Educator*, 72, 59–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.18666/TPE-2015-V72-I5-6133</u>
- Halcomb, E., & Hickman, L. (2015). Mixed methods research. *Nursing Standard*, 29(32), 41–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.7748/ns.29.32.41.e8858</u>

Hall, M., & Owings, M. (2014). Rural and urban hospitals' role in providing inpatient care, 2010. *Centers for Disease Control*.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db147.htm

Hammarberg, K., Kirkman, M., & de Lacey, S. (2016). Qualitative research methods:
When to use them and how to judge them. *Human Reproduction*, *31*, 498–501.
<u>https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dev334</u>

Hancock, M. E., Amankwaa, L., Revell, M. A., & Mueller, D. (2016). Focus group data saturation: A new approach to data analysis. *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 2124– 2130. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss11/13

Hanna, G. M., Fishman, I., Edwards, D. A., Shen, S., Kram, C., Xulei, L., & Shotwell, M., & Gilligan, C. (2016). Development and patient satisfaction of a new telemedicine service for pain management at Massachusetts General Hospital to the Island of Martha's Vineyard. *Pain Medicine*, *17*, 1658–1663. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnw069

- Harper, M., & Cole, P. (2012). Member checking: Can benefits be gained similar to group therapy? *The Qualitative Report*, 17(2), 510–517. <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol17/iss2/1/</u>
- Harvey, L. (2015) Beyond member-checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38(1), 23– 38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487</u>
- Holmes, G. M., Kaufman, B. G., & Pink, G. H. (2019). Predicting financial distress and closure in rural hospitals. *The Journal of Rural Health*, 33(3), 239–249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12187</u>
- Holloway, I., & Galvin, K. (2017). *Qualitative research in nursing and health care* (4th ed.). John Wiley & Sons
- Hoque, R., & Sorwar, G. (2017). Understanding factors influencing the adoption of mHealth by the elderly: An extension of the UTAUT model. *International*

Journal of Medical Informatics, 101, 75–84.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.02.002

- Horne, J., Lincoln, N. B., Preston, J., & Logan, P. (2014). What does confidence mean to people who have had a stroke? A qualitative interview study. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 28(11), 1125-1135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215514534086</u>
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigor in qualitative case study research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 12–17.

https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.e326

- Houghton, C., Murphy, K., Shaw, D., & Casey, D. (2015). Qualitative case study data analysis: An example from practice. *Nurse Researcher*, 22(5), 8–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.22.5.8.e1307</u>
- Hu, P. J., Chau, P. Y. K., Sheng, O. R. L., & Tam, K. Y. (1999). Examining the technology acceptance model using physician acceptance of telemedicine technology. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, *16*(2), 91–112. https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.1999.11518247
- Hussein, A. (2015). The use of triangulation in social sciences research: Can qualitative and quantitative methods be combined? *Journal of comparative social work*, *4*(1), 1–12. <u>https://journal.uia.no/index.php/JCSW/index</u>

Hyett, N., Kenny, A., & Dickson-Swift, V. (2014). Methodology or method? A critical review of qualitative case study reports. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, *9*, 23606–23618.
https://doi.org/10.3402/qhw.v9.23606

- Iivari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice. Information Technology & People, 31(1), 111–133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/itp-07-2016-0168</u>
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. The Qualitative Report, 17(42), 1–10. <u>https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol17/iss42/3</u>
- Jang-Jaccard, J., Nepal, S., Alem, L., & Li, J. (2014). Barriers for delivering telehealth in rural Australia: A review based on Australian trials and studies. *Telemedicine Journal And E-Health: The Official Journal of The American Telemedicine Association*, 20(5), 496–504. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2013.0189</u>
- Jansen-Kosterink, S., Dekker-van Weering, M., & van Velsen, L. (2019). Patient acceptance of a telemedicine service for rehabilitation care: A focus group study. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 125, 22–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2019.01.011
- Jarvik, G. P., Amendola, L. M., Berg, J. S., Brothers, K., Clayton, E. W., Chung, W., & CSER Act-ROR Working Group. (2014). Return of genomic results to research participants: The floor, the ceiling, and the choices in between. *American Journal* of Human Genetics, 94, 818–826. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2014.04.009</u>
- Johnson, A. B. (2019). Satisfaction in intensive care unit telemedicine programs. *Critical Care Clinics*, *35*(3), 511–517. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccc.2019.02.00624</u>
- Johnston, M. P. (2017). Secondary data analysis: A method of which the time has come. *Qualitative and Quantitative Methods in Libraries*, 3, 619–626. <u>https://www.qqml-journal.net/index.php/qqml/article/view/169</u>

Jong, M., Mendez, I., & Jong, R. (2019). Enhancing access to care in northern rural communities via telehealth. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, 78(2), 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1080/22423982.2018.1554174

Kaewkungwal, J., & Adams, P. (2019). Ethical consideration of the research proposal and the informed-consent process: An online survey of researchers and ethics committee members in Thailand. *Accountability in Research*, 26(3), 176–197. https://doi.org/10.1080/08989621.2019.1608190

 Kahn, E. N., La Marca, F., & Mazzola, C. A. (2016). Neurosurgery and telemedicine in the United States: Assessment of the risks and opportunities. *World Neurosurgery*, 89, 133–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2016.01.075</u>

 Kahn, J. M. (2015). Virtual Visits - Confronting the challenges of telemedicine. New England Journal of Medicine, 372(18), 1684–1685.
 https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmp1500533

Kallio, H., Pietilä, A. M., Johnson, M., & Kangasniemi, M. (2016). Systematic methodological review: Developing a framework for a qualitative semistructured interview guide. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 72, 2954–2965. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13031

Kapoor, K. K., Dwivedi, Y. K., & Williams, M.D. (2014). Innovation adoption attributes: A review and synthesis of research findings. *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 17(3), 327–348. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/EJIM-08-2012-0083</u>

Kasckow, J., Zickmund, S., Gurklis, J., Luther, J., Fox, L., Taylor, M., & Richmond, I.,& Haas, G. L. (2016). Using telehealth to augment an intensive case monitoring

program in veterans with schizophrenia and suicidal ideation: A pilot trial. *Psychiatry Research*, *239*, 111–116.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2016.02.049

Kaufman, B. G., Thomas, S. R., Randolph, R. K., Perry, J. R., Thompson, K. W.,
Holmes, G. M., & Pink, G. H. (2015). The rising rate of rural hospital closures. *The Journal of Rural Health*, 32(1), 35–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12128</u>

Kemparaj, U., & Chavan, S. (2013). Qualitative research: A brief description. Indian Journal of Medical Sciences, 67(3), 89–98.

https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5359.121127

- Kessler, E. A., Sherman, A. K., & Becker, M. L. (2016). Decreasing patient cost and travel time through pediatric rheumatology telemedicine visits. *Pediatric Rheumatology*, 14(1), 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12969-016-0116-2</u>
- Kim, E., Lee, J.-A., Sung, Y., & Choi, S. M. (2016). Predicting selfie-posting behavior on social networking sites: An extension of theory of planned behavior. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 62, 116–123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.03.078</u>
- Kim, W. O. (2012). Institutional review board (IRB) and ethical issues in clinical research. *Korean Journal of Anesthesiology*, 62(1), 3–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.4097/kjae.2012.62.1.3</u>
- Kippenbrock, T., Lo, W. J., Odell, E., & Buron, B. (2015). The southern states: NPs made an impact in rural and health care shortage areas. *Journal of the American Association of Nurse Practitioners*, 27(12), 707–13. https://doi.org/10.1002/2327-6924.12245

- Kisely, S. (2015). Can the next generation of clinician-scientists please step forward? *Australasian Psychiatry*, 23(1), 5–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1039856214562123</u>
- Kniffin, K. M., Wansink, B., Devine, C. M., & Sobal, J. (2015). Eating together at the firehouse: How workplace commensality relates to the performance of firefighters. *Human Performance Journal*, 28, 281–306. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08959285.2015.1021049</u>
- Koch, L. C., Niesz, T., & McCarthy, H. (2014). Understanding and reporting qualitative research. *Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin*, 57(3), 131–143. https://doi.org/10.1177/0034355213502549
- Kohler, J. E., Falcone, R. A., & Fallat, M. E. (2019). Rural health, telemedicine and access for pediatric surgery. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics*, 31(3), 391–398. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/mop.000000000000763</u>
- Kolb, S. M. (2012). Grounded theory and the constant comparative method: Valid research strategies for educators. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies (JETERAPS)*, 3(1), 83–86.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1.1.301.9451">https://doi.org/10.1.1.301.9451</a>
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part
  4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*,
  24(1), 120–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092</u>
- Kruse, C. S., Bouffard, S., Dougherty, M., & Parro, J. S. (2016a). Telemedicine use in rural Native American communities in the era of the ACA: A systematic literature

review. Journal of Medical Systems, 40(6), 144-145.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-016-0503-8

- Kruse, C. S., Karem, P., Shifflett, K., Vegi, L., Ravi, K., & Brooks, M. (2016b).
  Evaluating barriers to adopting telemedicine worldwide: A systematic review. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 24(1), 4–12.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/1357633x16674087
- Kruse, C. S., Krowski, N., Rodriguez, B., Tran, L., Vela, J., & Brooks, M. (2017).
  Telehealth and patient satisfaction: A systematic review and narrative analysis. *BMJ Open*, 7(8), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016242</u>
- Kvedar, J., Coye, M. J., & Everett, W. (2014). Connected health: A review of technologies and strategies to improve patient care with telemedicine and telehealth. *Health Affairs*, *33*(2), 194–199.
  https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0992
- Lagrou, D., Zachariah, R., Bissell, K., Van Overloop, C., Nasim, M., Wagma, H. N.,
  Kakar, S., Caluwaerts, S., De Plecker, E., Fricke, R., & Van den Bergh, R. (2018).
  Provision of emergency obstetric care at secondary level in a conflict setting in a rural area of Afghanistan Is the hospital fulfilling its role? *Conflict and Health*, *12*(2), 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13031-018-0137-1</u>
- Lai, P. (2017). The literature review of technology adoption models and theories for novelty technology. *Journal of Information Systems and Technology Management*, 14(1), 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.4301/s1807-17752017000100002</u>

LeRouge, C., & Garfield, M. (2013). Crossing the telemedicine chasm: Have the U.S.
 barriers to widespread adoption of telemedicine been significantly reduced?
 *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 10, 6472–6484. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph10126472

Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4, 324–327. https://doi.org/10.4103/2249-4863.161306

- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. *Health Promotion Practice*, 2(4), 23–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839915580941</u>
- Li, T., Vedula, S. S., Hadar, N., Parkin, C., Lau, J., & Dickersin, K. (2015). Innovations in data collection, management, and archiving for systematic reviews. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 162, 287–294. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/M14-1603</u>
- Lin, A., & Chen, N. C. (2012). Cloud computing as an innovation: Perception, attitude, and adoption. *International Journal of Information Management*, 32, 533–540. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2012.04.001</u>
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic Inquiry*. Sage Publications.

Lum, H. D., Nearing, K., Pimentel, C. B., Levy, C. R., & Hung, W. W. (2019). Anywhere to anywhere: Use of telehealth to increase health care access for older, rural veterans. *Public Policy & Aging Report*, 30(1), 12–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ppar/prz030</u>  Mahar, J. H., Rosencranc, J. G., & Rasmussen, P. A. (2018). Telemedicine: Past, present, and future. *Cleveland Clinic Journal of Medicine*, 5(12), 938–942.
 <u>https://www.mdedge.com/ccjm/article/189759/practice-</u> management/telemedicine-past-present-and-future

Maia, M. R., Castela, E., Pires, A., & Lapão, L. V. (2019). How to develop a sustainable telemedicine service? A pediatric telecardiology Service 20 years on - An exploratory study. *BMC Health Services Research*, 19(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-4511-5

Maillet, É., Mathieu, L., & Sicotte, C. (2015). Modeling factors explaining the acceptance, actual use and satisfaction of nurses using an Electronic Patient Record in acute care settings: An extension of the UTAUT. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 84(1), 36–47.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.09.004

Malagon-Maldonado, G. (2014). Qualitative research in health design. Health Environments Research & Design Journal (HERD),7(4), 120–134. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/193758671400700411</u>

Manocchia, A. (2020). Telehealth: Enhancing care through technology. *Rhode Island Medical Journal*, 103(1), 18–20. <u>https://www.rimed.org</u>

Maramwidze-Merrison, E. (2016). Innovative methodologies in qualitative research:
 Social media window for accessing organizational elites for interviews. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 14, 157–167. <u>https://www.ejbrm.com</u>

- Marangunic, N., & Granic, A. (2015). Technology acceptance model: A literature review from 1986 to 2013. Universal Access in the Information Society, 14(1), 81–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10209-014-0348-1
- Marcin, J. P., Shaikh, U., & Steinhorn, R. H. (2015). Addressing health disparities in rural communities using telehealth. *Pediatric Research*, 79(1-2), 169–176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/pr.2015.192</u>
- Marshall, C., Brereton, P., & Kitchenham, B. (2015). Tools to support systematic reviews in software engineering. *Proceedings of the 19th International Conference on Evaluation and Assessment in Software Engineering - EASE'15*. https://doi.org/10.1145/2745802.2745827
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research*. (6th ed.). Sage.
- Martins, C., Oliveira, T., & Popovic, A. (2014). Understanding the internet banking adoption: A unified theory of acceptance and use of technology and perceived risk application. *International Journal of Information Management*, 34, 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2014.06.004</u>
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, 30, 537–542. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267659114559116
- McDermid, F., Peters, K., Jackson, D., & Daly, J. (2014). Conducting qualitative research in the context of pre-existing peer and collegial relationships. *Nurse Researcher*, 21(5), 28–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.21.5.28.e1232</u>

- McGinley, S., Wei, W., Zhang, L., & Zheng, Y. (2021). The state of qualitative research in hospitality: A 5-year review 2014 to 2019. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 62(1), 8–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1938965520940294</u>
- McIntosh, M. J., & Morse, J. M. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semistructured interviews. *Global qualitative nursing research*, 2, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393615597674</u>
- McKee, A., Guimarães, M. H., & Pinto-Correia, T. (2015). Social capital accumulation and the role of the researcher: An example of a transdisciplinary visioning process for the future of agriculture in Europe. *Environmental Science & Policy*, *50*, 88–99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2015.02.006</u>
- McLean, S., Sheikh, A., Cresswell, K., Nurmatov, U., Mukherjee, M., Hemmi, A., & Pagliari, C. (2013). The impact of telehealth care on the quality and safety of care: A systematic overview. *PLoS ONE*, 8(8), 1–11.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0071238">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0071238</a>
- McWilliams, J., & Schwartz, A. (2017). Focusing on high-cost patient: The key to addressing high costs? *New England Journal of Medicine*, 376(9), 807–809. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmp1612779</u>
- Mechanic, O. J, & Kimball, A. B. (2019). *Telehealth Systems*. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK459384/</u>
- Mehrotra, A., Jena, A. B., Busch, A. B., Souza, J., Uscher-Pines, L., & Landon, B. E. (2016). Utilization of telemedicine among rural Medicare beneficiaries. *Journal*

of American Medical Association (JAMA), 315, 20152016.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.218

Michael, D. F. (2014). Supportive supervisor communication as a mediator of the leadermember exchange and subordinate performance relationship. *International Journal of Leadership Studies*, 8(2), 44–65.

http://www.regent.edu/acad/global/publications/ijls/new/home.htm

- Miller, K. E., James, H. J., Holmes, G. M., & Van Houtven, C. H. (2020). The effect of rural hospital closures on emergency medical service response and transport times. *Health services research*, 55(2), 288–300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-</u> 6773.13254
- Miracle, V. A. (2016). The Belmont reports. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, 35(4), 223–228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/dcc.00000000000186</u>
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Data were saturated . . . . *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(5), 587–588. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315576699</u>
- Moullin, J.C., Ehrhart, M.G., & Aarons, G.A. (2018). The role of leadership in organizational implementation and sustainment in service agencies. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 28(5):558–567. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731517718361</u>

Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Sage

Mubarak, M. F., & Yusoff, W. F. N. (2019). Impact of strategic leadership on strategy implementation. *British Journal of Management and Marketing Studies*, 2(1), 32–43. <u>https://abjournals.org/bjmms/</u>

Murphy, K. M., Hughes, L. S., & Conway, P. (2018). A path to sustain rural hospitals. Journal of American Medical Association (JAMA), 319, 1193–1194. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2018.2967

National Rural Health Association. (2016). About Rural Health Care.

https://www.ruralhealthweb.org/aboutnrha/about-rural-health-care.

Natow, R. S. (2019). The use of triangulation in qualitative studies employing elite interviews. *Qualitative Research. Advanced online publication*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794119830077

Nelson, I. A., London, R. A., & Strobel, K. R. (2015). Reinventing the role of the university researcher. *Educational Researcher*, 44(1), 17–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x15570387</u>

Ness, L. R., & Fusch, P. I. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408–1416. <u>https://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR20/9/fusch1.pdf</u>

- Newton, M. J. (2014). The promise of telemedicine. *Survey of Ophthalmology*, *59*, 559–567. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.survophthal.2014.02.003</u>
- Noble, H., & Heale, R. (2019). Triangulation in research, with examples. *BMJ Journals*, 22, 67–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/ebnurs-2019-103145</u>

Noles, M. J., Reiter, K. L., Boortz-Marx, J., & Pink, G. (2015). Rural hospital mergers and acquisitions: Which hospitals are being acquired and how are they performing afterward? *Journal of Health care Management*, 60(6), 395–407. https://doi.org/10.1097/00115514-201511000-00005 Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis: Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*(1), 1–13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847</u>

Nusbaum, L., Douglas, B., Damus, K., Paasche-Orlow, M., & Estrella-Luna, N. (2017). Communicating risks and benefits in informed consent for research: A qualitative study. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, *4*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393617732017

O'Connor, M., Dempsey, M., Huffenberger, A., Jost, S., Flynn, D., Norris, A., & Asdornwised, U. (2016). Using telehealth to reduce all-cause 30-day hospital readmissions among heart failure patients receiving skilled home health services. *Applied Clinical Informatics*, 7(2), 238–247.

https://doi.org/10.4338/aci-2015-11-soa-0157

- O'Nyumba, T., Wilson, K., Derrick, C. J., & Mukherjee, N. (2018). The use of focus group discussion methodology: Insights from two decades of application in conservation. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 9(1), 20–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12860</u>
- Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. (2018). OECD stat. http://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=SHA

Otero, A. V., Lopez-Magallon, A. J., Jaimes, D., Motoa, M. V., Ruz, M., Erdmenger, J., & Muñoz, R. A. (2014). International telemedicine in pediatric cardiac critical care: A multicenter experience. *Telemedicine and e-Health*, 20, 619–625. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2013.0307</u>
Padilla-Díaz, M. (2015). Phenomenology in educational qualitative research: Philosophy as science or philosophical science? *International Journal of Educational Excellence*, 1(2), 101–110. <u>https://doi.org/10.18562/ijee.2015.0009</u>

Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2013). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 1–12.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y

- Park, J., & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus quantitative research methods: Discovery or justification? *Journal of Marketing Thought*, 3(1), 1–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1</u>
- Pasmore,W. (2014) Developing leadership strategy. A critical ingredient for organizational success. *Center for Creative Leadership*, 2–26. <u>https://www.ccl.org/</u>
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice* (4th ed.). Sage.
- Paul, D. L., & McDaniel, R. R. (2016). Facilitating telemedicine project sustainability in medically underserved areas: A health care provider participant perspective. *BMC Health Services Research*, *16*(148), 1–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-016-1401-y</u>
- Peredaryenko, M, S., & Krauss, S. E. (2013). Calibrating the human instrument: Understanding the interviewing experience of novice qualitative researchers. *The*

*Qualitative Report*, *18*(85), 1–17.

http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR18/peredaryenko85.pdf

- Pereira, F. (2017). Business models for telehealth in the US: Analyses and insights. *Smart Homecare Technology and TeleHealth*, *4*, 13–29. <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/</u>
- Peticca-Harris, A., deGama, N., & Elias, S. R. S. T. A. (2016). A dynamic process model for finding informants and gaining access in qualitative research. *Organizational Research Methods*, 19, 376–401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428116629218</u>
- Petrova, E., Dewing, J., & Camilleri, M. (2016). Confidentiality in participatory research: Challenges from one study. *Nursing Ethics*, 23, 442–454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733014564909</u>
- Petterson, S. M., Liaw, W. R., Tran, C., & Bazemore, A. W. (2015). Estimating the residency expansion required to avoid projected primary care physician shortages by 2035. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, *13*(2), 107–114.

https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1760

- Pezalla, A. E., Pettigrew, J., & Miller-Day, M. (2012). Researching the researcher as instrument: An exercise in interviewer self-reflexivity. *Qualitative Research*, 12, 165–185. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794111422107</u>
- Portnoy, J. M., Pandya, A., Waller, M., & Elliott, T. (2020). Telemedicine and emerging technologies for health care in allergy/immunology. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 145(2), 445–454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2019.12.903</u>

- Postholm, M. B., & Skrøvset, S. (2013). The researcher reflecting on her own role during action research. *Educational Action Research*, 21, 506–518. https://doi.org/10.1080/09650792.2013.833798
- Potter, A. J., Natafgi, N., Ullrich, F., Ward, M. M., Bell, A. L., MacKinney, A.C., & Mueller, K.J. (2016). Perceptions of the benefits of telemedicine in rural communities. *Perspectives in Health Information Management*, *1*, 1–13. <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/176a/db39a01eb06116f6fc3cb91f71c46fdc6174.</u> <u>pdf</u>
- Pruitt, L. D., Luxton, D. D., & Shore, P. (2014). Additional clinical benefits of homebased Telemental health treatments. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 45(5), 340–346. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035461</u>
- Radfar, A., Chevalier, C. L., Rouse, N., Patriche, D., & Filip, I. (2017). Telemedicine: New horizons in health care. *Journal of Hospital Administration*, 6(2), 40–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.5430/jha.v6n2p40</u>
- Raimi, L., Akhuemonkhan, I., & Ogunjirin, O. D. (2015). Corporate social responsibility and entrepreneurship (CSRE): Antidotes to poverty, insecurity and underdevelopment in Nigeria. *Social Responsibility Journal*, 11, 56–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/SRJ-11-2012-0138</u>
- Raina, R., & Roebuck, D. B. (2016). Exploring cultural influence on managerial communication in relationship to job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and employees' propensity to leave in the Insurance section of India.

International Journal of Business Communication, 53(1), 97–130. https://doi.org/10.1177/2329488414525453

- Ray, K. N., Felmet, K. A., Hamilton, M. F., Kuza, C. C., Saladino, R. A., Schultz, B. R., Watson, R. S., & Kahn, J. M. (2017). Clinician attitudes toward adoption of pediatric emergency telemedicine in rural hospitals. *Pediatric Emergency Care*, 33(4), 250–257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/pec.000000000000583</u>
- Rekalde, I., Landeta, J., & Albizu, E. (2015). Determining factors in the effectiveness of executive coaching as a management development tool. *Management Decision*, 53, 1677–1697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-12-2014-0666</u>
- Resnick, D.B. (2011). What is ethics in research & why is it important? *National Institute for Environmental Health*.

https://www.niehs.nih.gov/research/resources/bioethics/whatis/index.cfm

RHIhub (2019). What financial impact could the addition of telehealth services have on a rural facility and community?

https://www.ruralhealthinfo.org/topics/telehealth#financial-impact

- Rho, M. J., Yoon, K. H., Kim, H.-S., & Choi, I. Y. (2015). Users' perception on telemedicine service: A comparative study of public health care and private health care. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 74, 2483–2497. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11042-014-1966-6
- Rho, M. J., Young Choi, I., & Lee, J. (2014). Predictive factors of telemedicine service acceptance and behavioral intention of physicians. *International journal of*

*medical informatics*, *83*(8), 559–571.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.05.005

- Robb, J. F., Hyland, M. H., & Goodman, A. D. (2019). Comparison of telemedicine versus in-person visits for persons with multiple sclerosis: A randomized crossover study of feasibility, cost, and satisfaction. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, 36, 1–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.msard.2019.05.001</u>
- Roberts, L. W., Berk, M. S., & Lane-McKinley, K. (2019). Ethical considerations in research on suicide prediction. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 76(9), 883–884. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.1228</u>

Rogers, E. M. (2003). Diffusion of innovations. Free Press.

- Rogerson, D., Soltani, H., & Copeland, R. (2016). The weight-loss experience: a qualitative exploration. *BMC public health*, 16(1), 371–383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3045-6</u>
- Roulston, K. (2016). Issues involved in methodological analyses of research interviews. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 16, 68–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-02-2015-0015</u>
- Rowley, J. (2012). Conducting research interviews. *Management Research Review*, 35, 260–271. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/0140917121121015</u>
- Rusdi, M., Hubeis, A. V. S, Affandi, M. J., & Dharmawan, A. H. (2015). A literature review of factors causing employee turnover in Indonesian banking. *International Journal of Business & Management*, 3(5), 318–323. <u>http://www.theijbm.com</u>

- Saigi-Rubió, F., Jiménez-Zarco, A., & Torrent-Sellens, J. (2016). Determinants of the intention to use telemedicine: Evidence from primary care physicians. *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care*, 32(1-2), 29–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0266462316000015</u>
- Sandelowski, M. (1995). Sample size in qualitative research. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 18(2), 179–183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.4770180211</u>
- Sani, A. (2013). Role of procedural justice, organizational commitment, and job satisfaction on job performance: The mediating effects of organizational citizenship behavior. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 8, 57–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/ijbm.v8n15p57</u>
- Sanjari, M., Bahramnezhad, F., Fomani, F., Sho-ghi, M., & Cheraghi, M. (2014). Ethical challenges of researchers in qualitative studies: The necessity to develop a specific guideline. *Journal of Medical Ethics and History of Medicine*, 7, 2–6. <u>https://jmehm.tums.ac.ir</u>
- Sargeant, J. (2012). Qualitative research part II: Participants, analysis, and quality assurance. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 4(1), 1–3. <u>https://doi.org/10.4300/jgme-d-11-00307.1</u>

Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., & Jinks, C. (2017). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, 52, 1893–1907. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8</u>

- Schadelbauer, R. (2017). Anticipating economic returns of rural telehealth. *The Rural Broadband Association*. <u>https://www.aha.org/guidesreports/2019-02-04-rural-report-2019</u>
- Schuller, K. A., Cronin, C. E., Nicks, S. E., Jing, X., Kingori, C., & Morrone, M. (2019).
   Development and application of a rubric to compare strategies for improving access to health care in rural communities in the United States. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 74, 61–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2019.02.013
- Schumacher, A. (2015). Telehealth: Current barriers, potential progress. *Ohio State Law Journal*, *76*, 409–439.

https://moritzlaw.osu.edu/students/groups/oslj/files/2015/07/10-Schumacher.pdf

- Segrelles-Calvo, G., Chiner, E., & Fernández-Fabrellas, E. (2015). Acceptance of telemedicine among health care professionals. *Bronchopneumology Archives* (*English Edition*), 51, 611–612. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arbr.2015.11.007</u>
- Segrelles-Calvo, G., López-Padilla, D., Chiner, E., Fernández-Fabrellas, E., & de Granda-Orive, J. I. (2017). Acceptance of telemedicine among respiratory health care professionals. *European Research in Telemedicine*, 6(3–4), 147–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurtel.2017.10.002
- Seidman, I. (2012) Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education and the Social Sciences. Teachers college press.
- Siddiqui, N., & Anneke Fitzgerald, J. (2014). Elaborated integration of qualitative and quantitative perspectives in mixed methods research: A profound enquiry into the

nursing practice environment. *International Journal of Multiple Research Approaches*, 8(2), 137–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/18340806.2014.11082056</u>

- Smith, B., & McGannon, K. R. (2017). Developing rigor in qualitative research: Problems and opportunities within sport and exercise psychology. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 11(1), 101–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/1750984x.2017.1317357
- Smith, J. G. (2020). Impact of rural hospital environments on patients and nurses. *In Nursing forum*, 55 (2), 294–296. https://doi.org/10.1111/nuf.12428
- Sousa, D. (2014). Validation in qualitative research: General aspects and specificities of the descriptive phenomenological method. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11(2), 211–227. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2013.853855</u>
- Speyer, R., Denman, D., Wilkes-Gillan, S., Chen, Y., Bogaardt, H., Kim, J., & Cordier,
  R. (2018). Effects of telehealth by allied health professionals and nurses in rural and remote areas: *A systematic review and meta-analysis. Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, 50(3), 225–235. <u>https://doi.org/10.2340/16501977-2297</u>
- Stefura, G. (2014). Using methodological triangulation to study the individual compliance behavior towards income reporting. SEA - Practical Application of Science, 1(3), 582–587. <u>https://ideas.repec.org/a/cmj/seapas/y2014i3p582-587.html</u>
- Stephan, U., Patterson, M., Kelly, C., & Mair, J. (2016). Organizations driving positive social change: A review and an integrative framework of change processes.

Journal of Management, 42, 1250–1281.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316633268

Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 68(3), 226–231. <u>https://doi.org/10.4212/cjhp.v68i3.1456</u>

Suzuki, T., Hotta, J., Kuwabara, T., Yamashina, H., Ishikawa, T., Tani, Y., & Ogasawara, K. (2020). Possibility of introducing telemedicine services in Asian and African countries. *Health Policy and Technology*, 9(1), 13–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hlpt.2020.01.006

- Swar, S., Rimal, P., Gauchan, B., Maru, D., Yang, Y., & Acharya, B. (2019). Delivering collaborative care in rural settings: Integrating remote teleconsultation and local supervision in rural Nepal. *Psychiatric Services*, 70(1), 78–81. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201800273
- Tarhini, A., Elyas, T., Akour, M. A., & Al-Salti, Z. (2016). Technology, demographic characteristics and e-learning acceptance: A conceptual model based on extended technology acceptance model. *Higher Education Studies*, 6(3), 71–72. https://doi.org/10.5539/hes.v6n3p72

Taylor, J., Coates, E., Wessels, B., Mountain, G., & Hawley, M. S. (2015). Implementing solutions to improve and expand telehealth adoption: Participatory action research in four community health care settings. *BMC Health Services Research*, 15(529), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-015-1195-3 Theron, P. M. (2015). Coding and data analysis during qualitative empirical research in practical Theology. *Kodering en data-analise tydens kwalitatiewe empiriese navorsing in praktiese teologie. In Die Skriflig, 49*(3), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.4102/ids.v49i3.1880

Thirsk, L. M., & Clark, A. M. (2017). Using qualitative research for complex interventions. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917721068</u>

- Thomas, J. F., Novins, D. K., Hosokawa, P. W., Olson, C. A., Hunter, D., Brent, A. S., Frunzi, G., & Libby, A. M. (2018). The use of telepsychiatry to provide costefficient care during pediatric mental health emergencies. *Psychiatric Services*, 69(2), 161–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201700140</u>
- Thomas, M., & Pettitt, N. (2016). Informed consent in research on second language acquisition. Second Language Research, 33(2), 271–288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0267658316670206</u>
- Thomas, S. R., Pink, G. H., & Reiter, K. (2019). Trends in risk of financial distress among rural hospitals from 2015 to 2019.

https://www.shepscenter.unc.edu/programs-projects/rural-health

Ting, D. S., Gunasekeran, D. V., Wickham, L., & Wong, T. Y. (2019). Next generation telemedicine platforms to screen and triage. *British Journal of Ophthalmology*, 104(3), 299–300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjophthalmol-2019-315066</u>

- Touzi, B., Mabrouki, C., & Farchi, A. (2016). Competitive and sustainable road transport system: Stakeholder's analysis. *International Journal of Advanced Information Science and Technology*, 5, 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.15693/ijaist/2016.v5i1.1-15</u>
- Tracy, S. J., & Hinrichs, M. M. (2017). Big tent criteria for qualitative quality. The International Encyclopedia of Communication Research Methods, 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118901731.iecrm0016</u>
- Tran, V., Porcher, R., Falissard, B., & Ravaud, P. (2016). Point of data saturation was assessed using resampling methods in a survey with open-ended questions. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 80, 8088–8096. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.07.014</u>
- Tsai, C. H. (2014). Integrating social capital theory, social cognitive theory, and the technology acceptance model to explore a behavioral model of telehealth systems. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *11*, 4905–4925. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph110504905">https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph110504905</a>
- Twining, P., Heller, R. S., Nussbaum, M., & Tsai, C. C. (2017). Some guidance on conducting and reporting qualitative studies. *Computers & Education*, 106, A1–A9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2016.12.002</u>

Uprichard, E. (2013). Sampling: Bridging probability and non-probability designs. International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 16(1), 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2011.633391</u>

- Uscher-Pines, L., & Mehrotra, A. (2014). Analysis of Teladoc use seems to indicate expanded access to care for patients without prior connection to a provider. *Health Affairs*, 33(2), 258–264. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0989</u>
- US Department of Health and Human Services (1979). The Belmont Report. <u>https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report</u>
- Van Antwerpen, C., & Curtis, N. J. (2016). A data collection and presentation methodology for decision support: A case study of hand-held mine detection devices. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 251, 237–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2015.11.009
- Vardaman, J. M., Gondo, M. B., & Allen, D. G. (2014). Ethical climate and pro-social rule breaking in the workplace. Human Resource Management Review, 24, 108– 118. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2012.05.001</u>
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterizing and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: Systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC medical research methodology*, 18(1), 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7</u>
- Venkatesh, V., & Davis, F. D. (2000). A theoretical extension of the technology acceptance model: Four longitudinal field studies. *Management Science*, 46(2), 186–204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.46.2.186.11926</u>
- Venkatesh, V., Thong, J., & Xu, X. (2016). Unified theory of acceptance and use of technology: A synthesis and the road ahead. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 17(5), 328–376. <u>https://doi.org/10.17705/1jais.00428</u>

Vogenberg, F. R., & Santilli, J. (2018). Health care trends for 2018. American health & drug benefits, 11(1), 48–54.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5902765/

- Vogl, S. (2013). Telephone versus face-to-face interviews: Mode effect on semistructured interviews with children. *Sociological Methodology*, 43, 133–177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0081175012465967</u>
- Wade, V., Gray, L., & Carati, C. (2016). Theoretical frameworks in telemedicine research. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare*, 23(1), 181–187. https://doi.org/10.1177/1357633x15626650
- Wahyuni, D. (2015). The research design maze: Understanding paradigms, cases, methods and methodologies. *Journal of Applied Management Accounting Research*, 10(1), 69–80. <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=2103082</u>
- Walsh, M. N., & Rumsfeld, J. S. (2017). Leading the digital transformation of health care: The ACC innovation strategy. *Journal of American College of Cardiology* (JACC), 70(21), 2719–2722. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2017.10.020</u>
- Wang, D., Qi, C., & Wang, H. (2014). Improving emergency response collaboration and resource allocation by task network mapping and analysis. *Safety Science*, 70(1), 9–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2014.05.005</u>
- Ward, M. M., Ullrich, F., & Mueller, K. (2014). Extent of telehealth use in rural and urban hospitals. *Rural Policy Brief*, (4), 1–4. https://europepmc.org/abstract/med/25399469

- Watson, N. F. (2016). Expanding patient access to quality sleep health care through telemedicine. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine*, 12(2), 155–156. https://doi.org/10.5664/jcsm.5470
- Weinhold, I., & Gurtner, S. (2018). Rural urban differences in determinants of patient satisfaction with primary care. Social Science & Medicine, 212, 76–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.06.019</u>
- Weinstein, R. S., Lopez, A. M., Joseph, B. A., Erps, K. A., Holcomb, M., Barker, G. P., & Krupinski, E. A. (2014). Telemedicine, telehealth, and mobile health applications that work: Opportunities and barriers. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *127*(3), 183–187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2013.09.032</u>
- Wells, P., & Nieuwenhuis, P. (2018). Over the hill? Exploring the other side of the Rogers' innovation diffusion model from a consumer and business model perspective. *Journal of cleaner production*, 194, 444–451. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.05.144
- Wickramasinghe, S. I., Caffery, L. J., Bradford, N. K., & Smith, A. C. (2016). Enablers and barriers in providing teladiabetes services for indigenous communities: A systematic review. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare, 22*, 465–471. https://doi.org/10.1177/1357633x16673267
- Williams, A. M., Bhatti, U. F., Alam, H. B., & Nikolian, V. C. (2018). The role of telemedicine in postoperative care. *mHealth*, 4, 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.21037/mhealth.2018.04.03</u>

- Wu, B., & Chen, X. (2017). Continuance intention to use MOOCs: Integrating the technology acceptance model (TAM) and task technology fit (TTF) model. *Computers in Human Behavior, 67*, 221–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.10.028
- Wu, J., & Lu, X. (2013). Effects of extrinsic and intrinsic motivators on using utilitarian, hedonic, and dual-purposed information systems: A meta-analysis. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 14(3), 153–191. https://www.semanticscholar.org
- Yardley, L. (2016). Demonstrating the validity of qualitative research. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 12(3), 295–296.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2016.1262624

Yeong, M., Ismail, R., Ismail, N., & Hamzah, M. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. *The Qualitative Report, 23*, 2700–2713.

https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol23/iss11/7

Yin, R. K. (2017). Case study research and applications: Design and methods. Sage.

Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods. Sage.

Yun, H., Han, D., & Lee, C. C. (2013). Understanding the use of location-based service applications: Do privacy concerns matter? *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 14, 215–230. <u>https://www.jecr.org/sites</u>

- Zamawe, F. C. (2015). The implication of using NVivo software in qualitative data analysis: Evidence-based reflections. *Malawi Medical Journal*, *27*(1), 13–15. http://dx.doi.org/10.4314/mmj.v27i1.4
- Zanaboni, P., & Wootton, R. (2012). Adoption of telemedicine: From pilot stage to routine delivery. BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making, 12(1), 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6947-12-1</u>
- Zapien, N. (2017). Participation bias and social desirability effects in research on extramarital affairs: Considerations of meaning and implications for sexual behavior research. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 46(6), 1565–1571. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-017-1020-7</u>
- Zhang, B. (2016). The benefits and risks of telemedicine. *Risk Management*, 63(6), 14–16.

https://search.proquest.com/openview/4ab718bd9687c3e39bc453c8aac6a6ad/1?p q-origsite=gscholar&cbl=47271

Zhang, X., Li, Z., Ullrich, J., & Dick, R. (2013). Getting everyone on board: The effect of differentiated transformational leadership by CEO's on top management team effectiveness and leader-rated firm performance. *Journal of Management, 20*, 1–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/014920631247138</u>

Zholudev, V., Safir, I. J., Painter, M. N., Petros, J. A., Filson, C. P., & Issa, M. M. (2018). Comparative cost analysis: Teleurology vs conventional face-to-face clinics. *Urology*, 113, 40–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.urology.2017.07.034</u> Zohrabi, M. (2013). Mixed method research: Instruments, validity, reliability and reporting findings. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, *3*, 254–262. <u>https://doi.org/10.4304/tpls.3.2.254-262</u>

#### Appendix A: Interview Protocol

The purpose of this interview is to answer the research question on leadership strategies that health care leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

The interview protocol will consist of the following eleven steps:

- 1. I will begin the interview with a brief overview of the research, the purpose, and the time duration of the interview.
- 2. I will thank the participant for agreeing to participate in the interview.
- 3. I will present a printed-out copy of the informed consent form and review the contents of the form with the participant.
- 4. I will obtain the participant's signature on the consent form signifying an agreement to participate in the study
- 5. I will implement a serial coding system instead of using participants' names to identify the participants during the interview recording.
- 6. I will record the interview using an audio device. Audio recording will include a voice stamp of the date, time, and interview location.
- 7. I will explain that their participation is voluntary, and they can withdraw from the interview at any time without prior notice and through a verbal or email request.
- 8. During the interview process, I will watch for verbal cues, paraphrase interview questions as needed, and ask follow-up probing questions to get a more in-depth response.

- I will allow all participants ample time to answer each interview question, including follow up or probing questions.
- 10. I will provide participants information about the member checking process that would occur following the completion of the interview, transcription, and data analysis and interpretation. Further, I will schedule a follow-up member checking interview.
- I will wrap up the interview and thank the participant for their time and contribution to the study.

## Appendix B: Letter of Invitation to Participants

Email Invitation Template (To be used when requesting participation through email)

Date: XX/XX/2020

From: Chikezie Waturuocha

Subject: Request to Participate in Doctoral Study Interview

To: Participant

Hi Participant name,

My name is Chikezie Waturuocha and I am a doctoral student in the School of Management and Technology at Walden University. I am recruiting [Name of Rural Hospital] health care administrators to participant in my doctoral study. By way of this letter, I would like to invite you to participate in a face-to-face interview to answer 8 open-ended questions.

## **Purpose of the Study:**

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study is to explore leadership strategies that rural hospital leaders use to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability A potential social change outcome is that health care leaders will acquire leadership strategies to provide patients' access to specialty care and improved health care outcomes. The results of the in-depth interviews and analysis may help rural hospital administrators learn leadership strategies to implement telemedicine technology to improve profitability.

#### What will you need to do?

I will need you to schedule a time I may conduct a face-to-face interview with you. During the interview, I will need you to answer 8 questions approved by Walden University Committee members. You answers will be recorded and transcribed. Once the interview is complete, I will transcribe your responses and provide you an opportunity to check the content for accuracy.

Please contact or provide me with a point of contact so I can schedule some time to conduct a face-to-face interview with you.

Thank you for your consideration and participation in this study.

Regards.

Chikezie Waturuocha

# Appendix C: Interview Questions

Participants will answer the following questions:

- 1. What leadership strategies have you used to implement telemedicine technology in the rural community to improve profitability?
- 2. What leadership strategies did you use that worked best in implementing telemedicine technology in the rural community?
- 3. How were the strategies successful?
- 4. What challenges did you face during implementation?
- 5. How did you overcome the challenges?
- 6. How has your leadership strategies to implement telemedicine contributed to the organization's profitability?
- 7. How did you assess the effectiveness of the strategies to determine your organizations' profitability?
- 8. What other information can you provide to help rural health care leaders implement telemedicine technology to increase profitability?